INTERNATIONAL MIGRATION PAPERS

79E

Labour Migration Statistics in West Africa

Hamidou Ba

With the collaboration of

Babacar Ndione





This report is part of a special series published as products of "Managing Labour Migration as an Instrument of Development," a project implemented by the ILO with the financial support of the **European Union**. Funding for research and other activity was provided by EC Directorate General for Justice, Liberty and Security under grant agreement 2002/HLWG/41.

INTERNATIONAL MIGRATION PROGRAMME

INTERNATIONAL LABOUR OFFICE GENEVA

Copyright © International Labour Organization 2006 First published 2006

Publications of the International Labour Office enjoy copyright under Protocol 2 of the Universal Copyright Convention. Nevertheless, short excerpts from them may be reproduced without authorization, on condition that the source is indicated. For rights of reproduction or translation, application should be made to the ILO Publications (Rights and Permissions), International Labour Office, CH-1211 Geneva 22, Switzerland, or by email: pubdroit@ilo.org. The International Labour Office welcomes such applications.

Libraries, institutions and other users registered in the United Kingdom with the Copyright Licensing Agency, 90 Tottenham Court Road, London W1T 4LP [Fax: (+44) (0)20 7631 5500; email: cla@cla.co.uk], in the United States with the Copyright Clearance Center, 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923 [Fax: (+1) (978) 750 4470; email: info@copyright.com] or in other countries with associated Reproduction Rights Organizations, may make photocopies in accordance with the licences issued to them for this purpose.

Hamidou B.

Labour migration statistics in West Africa Geneva, International Labour Office, 2006

ISBN (printed version) 92-2-118915-5 & 978-92-2-118915-2 ISBN (web pdf) 92-2-118916-3 & 978-92-2-118916-9

Also available in (French): Les statistiques des travailleurs migrants en Afrique de l'Ouest (ISBN 92-2-218915-9 & 978-92-2-218915-1 (printed version and 92-2-218916-7 & 978-92-2-218916-8 (web pdf)), Geneva, (2006)

The designations employed in ILO publications, which are in conformity with United Nations practice, and the presentation of material therein do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the International Labour Office concerning the legal status of any country, area or territory or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers.

The responsibility for opinions expressed in signed articles, studies and other contributions rests solely with their authors, and publication does not constitute an endorsement by the International Labour Office of the opinions expressed in them.

Reference to names of firms and commercial products and processes does not imply their endorsement by the International Labour Office, and any failure to mention a particular firm, commercial product or process is not a sign of disapproval.

ILO publications can be obtained through major booksellers or ILO local offices in many countries, or direct from ILO Publications, International Labour Office, CH-1211 Geneva 22, Switzerland. Catalogues or lists of new publications are available free of charge from the above address, or by email: pubvente@ilo.org

Visit our website: www.ilo.org/publns

Table of contents

Forev	words	vii
Ackn	owledgements	X
1. Ir	ntroduction	1
1.1	Background	
1.2	Aims of the study	4
1.3	Methodology	5
	eview of the statistical sources on international migration	
2.1	Administrative records	
2.2	General population censuses	
2.3	National Surveys	
2.4	Local surveys	
2.5	Other sources listed in the national reports	19
3. C	Concepts and definitions used in migration statistics	
3.1	Criteria based on space (location) and time (duration)	
3.2	Categories of migrants and migration indicators	
3.3	Categorization based on the time criterion	
3.4	Categorization based on the space criterion	23
4. D	ata collection institutions: roles, competencies and constraints	
4.1	The role of data collection institutions	23
a)		
b)	, i	
4.2	Competences of the structures producing statistics	
a)		
b)		
4.3	Constraints affecting data suppliers	
a)	<u>. </u>	
b)) Immigration authorities and the institutions responsible for expatriate nationals .	25
5. D	viscrepancies and weaknesses in the current information system	26
5.1	Reliability of the sources of statistical information on migration	
a)		
of	f expatriate nationals	
b)		
5.2	Representativity of the data collected on migrants	
5.3	Coherence of data on migration	29
5.4	Regularity and consistence of data on migrants	
5.5	Comparability of statistics on migrants	
5.6	Accessibility of information on migrants	31
6. C	Coordination and utilisation of data in decision-making	31
6.1	Old, partial and patchy data	31

6.2 Lack of exchanges and structures for concertation between the suppliers and users of data 32

7.	Conclusion	32
O	D	2.4
	Recommendations	
	Recommendations for taking migration issues into account at the national level	34
	Recommendations on the integration of the migration variable in regional	
C	cooperation between West African countries	. 35
Bil	oliography on West African migration	37
	mex of Statistics – Series of recent data on international migration	
	ble 1: Migration statistics based on administrative records, by country	
	ble 2: Three most recent censuses by country, year and migration variables included	
	ble 3: The three most recent surveys by country and year, showing the migration variables	
	ble 4 : Migration statistics based on administrative records, by country	
	ble 5: Three most recent censuses by country, year and migration variables	47
Tab	ble 6: The three most recent surveys by country and year, showing the migration variables	
	luded	
	bleau 7 : Distribution of internal and international migration. Period 1988-92	
	ble 8 : Burkina Faso : Origin of immigrants in 1996	
	ble 9 : Distribution of foreign residents in Burkina Faso in 1996	
	ble 10: Burkina Faso: Breakdown by age and sex of migrants in 1999	
	ble 11 : Burkina Faso : Distribution of emigrants in 1999, by destination	
Tab	ble 12: Burkina Faso Distribution of immigrants in 1999, by country of origin	49
Tab	ble 13: Burkina Faso: Foreign population broken down by age and sex in 2000	50
	ble 14 : Cape-Verde : Distribution	
Tab	ble 15: Cape-Verde: Resident population broken down by sex and nationality	50
Tab	ble 16: Cape-Verde: Active population aged 10 and over by nationality and economic sector	51
	ble 17: Cape-Verde: Active population aged 15 and over by nationality and occupational group	
Tab	ble 18: Cape-Verde: Active population aged 15 and over by nationality and professional status.	53
	ble 19 : Cape-Verde : Distribution of grant-holders abroad by training sector	
Tab	ble 20: Cape-Verde: Distribution of grant-holders undergoing training abroad, by sex	55
Tab	ble 21: Cape-Verde: Distribution of grant holders following training abroad, by sex	55
Tab	ble 22: Cape-Verde: Estimated number of Cape-verdeans by host country (1998)	56
Tab	ble 23: Cape-Verde: Transfers made by emigrants, by country of origin and year	57
Tab	ble 24: Mali: Distribution of returning international migrants by region of residence at the time	of
	1998 census and most recent country of destination	
Tab	ble 25: Mali: Returning migrants by region of residence and most recent destination outside the	2
	ion (1998)	
Tab	ble 26: Mali: Distribution of Malian university students by country (2003)	59
Tab	ble 27: Mali Transfers of funds from migrants compared with GDP from 2000 to 2002	60
Tab	ble 28 : Mauritania Nationals abroad by host countries (2004)	60
Tab	ble 29: Mauritania: Actively employed population by sex and nationality (1988)	60
Tab	ble 30: Mauritania: Actively employed population by occupational sector, nationals and migrar	at
	rkers	
	ble 31 : Mauritania : Population by sex and nationality	
Tab	ble 32: Mauritania: Actively employed population by status, nationals and migrant workers	63
	ble 33 : Senegal : Distribution of the emigrant population by residential environment, sex and ag	
on	departure	64

Table 34 : Senegal : Distribution of the emigrant population by residential environment, ethnic group
or nationality65
Table 35 : Senegal : Distribution of the emigrant population by residential environment and marital
status on departure65
Table 36: Senegal: Distribution of the emigrant population by residential environment and region .65
Table 37: Senegal: Distribution of the emigrant population by residential environment and
destination66
Table 38 : Senegal : Distribution of the emigrant population by residential environment and principal
occupation on departure66

Forewords

This report comprises part of the ILO working paper series *International Migration Papers* that disseminates current research findings on global migration trends and seeks to stimulate dialogue and policy development on issues of regulating labour migration.

The importance and immediacy of better regulating labour migration in Africa motivated the ILO to establish a programmatic *Africa Labour Migration Initiative* in 2002. The evident starting point for this initiative was to expand the knowledge base as a proper foundation for effective technical cooperation and practical activity. As a result, this report comprises one of a special series of 31 regional and national studies from East, West and Maghreb Africa being published in 2006 as International Migration Papers, started with IMP number 76, or posted on the Project website¹.

Migration has come to the top of the political and social agenda across all of Africa. In recent years, regional integration initiatives have made considerable progress in development of frameworks, legislation, and mechanisms for increased economic and social integration among concerned states. At the continental level, the African Union and the Economic Commission for Africa have both taken up the challenges of exploring greater labour mobility across the region.

West Africa in particular has always been characterised by strong migratory dynamics due to prevailing political, labour market and political conditions. In Africa, this region has the highest concentration of intra-regional migrants and the highest rate of emigration towards Europe.

Labour mobility and market integration have been explicitly addressed in the context of the regional integration process of the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS) and the West African Economic and Monetary Union (UMEOA). Over the last two decades, ECOWAS has elaborated Protocols on Free Movement of Persons and the Right of Residence and Establishment. However, these Protocols have not been widely implemented. Data necessary to make informed policy decisions is non-existent or at best inadequatge. National legislation in ECOWAS member countries has not adequately incorporated the provisions of regional Protocols and international standards. Existing policy and practices often makes little or no reference to relevant labour market and labour migration conditions. Further, the involvement and capacity of labour ministries, worker organizations and employers in addressing labour migration needs to be strengthened by way of new mechanisms for institutionalized social dialogue and effective tripartite committees.

This report is the product of a process initiated by the ILO and supported by the European Commission on the basis of explicit constituent recommendations and requests for engagement. Following consultations with ILO constituent governments and social partners since 2001, West Africa, project activity has been ongoing over the last three years. A pilot phase was begun in 2003, followed by the project "Managing Labour Migration for Integration and Development in the Euromed Region, East Africa and West Africa" established in 2004 with EC support. Main programme aims are:

¹ ILO-EU Project "Managing labour migration for integration and development in Africa" Website: http://migration-africa.itcilo.org

- to enhance the capacities of ILO tri-partite constituents for managing labour migration as an instrument for development
- to promote social dialogue and to raise awareness among stakeholders regarding regional labour migration issues
- to obtain knowledge and data essential for governments and social partners to effectively set policy and regulate labour migration
- to enhance cooperation between East Africa, West Africa, North Africa and Europe on labour migration.

This report is one of a complementary series of three research studies on West African countries intended to assist governments and social partners to address the fundamental building blocks of effective policy and practice to regulate labour migration. Understanding that good policy depends on good data, this study assesses the current state of data collection and suggests specific measures to improve and harmonize collection and analysis of statistical data on labour migration and to more effectively use it in policy and administration. A second paper analyses existing national legislation on labour migration — the legal foundation for State action on migration— and in particular notes the extent of incorporation of relevant international normative standards and potential harmonization with neighbouring countries. A third regional study examines a number of key linkages between migration and development in order to identify what action and what policy tools can contribute to ensuring that migration indeed enhances development.

This report synthesises the findings from six specific national studies conducted under auspices of the project in Burkina Faso, Cabo Verde, Gambia, Mali, Mauritania and Senegal, executed respectively by Bonayi Dabiré et François Ilboudo, Jacques Angelo Santos, Seikou JK Trawally, Sékouba Diarra et Mobido Koly Keita, Mohamed Laghdaf Ould Cheikh Malainine, Abdourahmane Barry, Hamidou Ba et Salif Ndiaye. This synthesis study outlines the universal challenges associated with the production of reliable and comprehensive information and statistics on labour migration and reviews existing definitions and the characteristics of the different information systems. The study then offers a systematic review of existing data sources, including of information provided by censuses, administrative records and on nationals residing abroad. Based on this review, the study identifies existing information gaps and weaknesses in data on migrant stocks as well as in coordination among data producers and users. With these elements, the study concludes with specific recommendations to improve collection and application of statistical data to management of labour migration in West African countries. The authors suggest lines for a thorough overhaul of the existing information systems and a greater involvement of ILO constituents in the production and validation of data.

As the research emanating from the project shows, there remains a number of obstacles to the effective management of labour migration within or from the West African region. Key challenges concern the availability of accurate data necessary to make informed policy decisions, the need to fully incorporate relevant provisions of international standards in national law, and the establishment or improvement of institutional structures and mechanisms with specific competence and capacity to regulate labour migration. The suggested lines of response presume common interest in optimizing potential development benefits for both countries of origin and destination to be derived from effective administration of labour migration. We sincerely hope that this report will serve as a building block for our member governments and social partner constituents to address the migration

challenges before them. We also hope that dissemination of these research findings will enhance regional policy dialogue and cooperation on labour migration.

We wish to acknowledge the diligent and arduous work of the researchers who prepared the respective national studies as well as the effective efforts of Prof. Hamidou Ba to synthesize the six national studies into this West Africa regional overview. Appreciation is noted for the cooperation received from various government offices and agencies in Burkina Faso, Cabo Verde, Gambia, Mali, Mauritania and Senegal, as well as in Ghana and Nigeria that shared perspective, concerns and data essential to this effort.

Thanks are also due to the ILO West Africa project team based in Dakar, Prof. Hamidou Ba, Carole Brunet and Racky Sow for their support, editing and coordination efforts, and to the Director of the ILO sub-regional Office in Dakar, Mohamed Ould Sidi, and to Tharcisse Nkanagu for their liaison work with governments and social partners, as well as editorial review of these West Africa studies.

Jason Schachter of the ILO department of statistics (STAT) reviewed this report to ensure its technical accuracy. Finally, we note the dedicated attention by David Nii Addy, ILO Africa Project Officer, to ensuring that the entire research, writing and review process was carried through to completion, and the final editing and publication support by Céline Peyron.

Geneva, June 2006.

Patrick A Taran
Senior Migration Specialist
Coordinator, ILO Africa Labour Migration
Initiative

Acknowledgements

This report is based on the national surveys carried out by ILO consultants from the Dakar Bureau. The members of the Migration Dakar project team, Carole Brunet and Racky Sow, have each in their own way made important contributions to its successful completion. We would like to underline the constant support provided by David Nii Addy and Patrick Taran of the ILO Migration Department in Geneva and we would also like to thank the Director of the ILO Bureau in Dakar, Mohamed A.O. Sidi and M. Tharcisse Nkanagu, Focal Point for the project within the Bureau, for their contribution to the successful completion of the surveys. Finally, we would like to thank all the members of the tripartite partners (government, employers' organisations and trade unions) in the countries included in the Project who have participated to a greater or lesser extent in the validation of the surveys.

1. Introduction

This document provides a synthetic analysis of the national reports on migration statistics produced for the six countries of the West African sub-region covered in the Project "Labour Migration for Integration and Development in the EuroMed, East Africa and West Africa", i.e. Burkina Faso, Cape Verde, The Gambia, Mali, Mauritania and Senegal.

Existing statistics on international labour migration in the sub-region are generally agreed to be scarce, unreliable and subject to problems of comparability and availability. These statistics are not easily accessible and do not meet user needs; they are poorly analysed and they do not really meet administrative and policy-making needs either. These difficulties are largely the result of the diversity of migratory systems, legislation and sources of information, among other factors.

These reports have been produced at the request of the ILO constituents who, recognizing the vital importance of statistical data, recommended that a diagnostic analysis of statistical systems be carried out to determine their capacity to collect, process and disseminate relevant information on migratory movements and on the situation of migrant workers, both men and women, in the African sub-region. This information, apart from providing insight into the current situation, should also make it possible:

- to follow the trends in international migration at the national and international levels;
- to assess the effectiveness of migration policies;
- to assess the impact of migration on host societies and societies of origin;
- to guide the political debate on migration control, migration and development and irregular migration;
- to supervise the working conditions of migrant workers and ensure their protection;
- to improve decision-making concerning labour migration and thus enhance migration management;
- to design and implement migration policies, strategies and road-maps;
- to develop inter-governmental exchanges; and finally
- to monitor the introduction of international tools in connection with migrant workers.

1.1 Background

International migration, which according to current estimates may affect nearly 150 million individuals² throughout the world, is characterized by a combination of forces which include strong pressure towards emigration and a reduction in the opportunities which exist. Globalization has brought about major changes which make it more difficult to control its evolution, as a result of greater diversity as regards the geographical origins of migrants and the routes taken, variations in migration flow, etc. Migration processes thus engender new circulation patterns and contribute towards the restructuring of regional migration areas and the creation of new intercontinental migration territories.

² United Nations, World Population Prospects, The 2000 Revision, New York, 2001.

The constraints of globalization affect West Africa in the same way as they affect other parts of the world, and one of its main characteristics is a high level of migration. This region has the highest concentration of intra-regional migrants and the highest rate of emigration towards Europe in Sub-Saharan Africa (Stalker, 1995; Robin, 1996). Intra-regional movements, including refugees, remain the most numerous (Grégory et Piché, 1985; Russell et al., 1990; Adepoju, 1990; Cordell et al., 1996). The REMUAO surveys³ indicate no less than 1.556.000 migrations during the period 1988-1992 between the seven countries of the sub-region under review⁴ (Bocquier and Traoré, 1996). One of the characteristics of these migratory exchanges is the polarization by the Ivory Coast of flows originating in Burkina Faso (92% of total emigration from this country towards the other countries of the REMUAO), from Mali (74%) and from Niger (71%). The main destination for emigration from Mauritania is Senegal (68%); emigrants from Senegal flow mainly towards Guinea (36%) and Mauritania (30%)⁵. The survey on Migration, urban integration and the environment in Burkina Faso (Migrations, l'Insertion urbaine et l'Environnement au Burkina Faso) (EMIE, 2000) confirms the preponderance of Burkinabe international migratory movements towards the Ivory Coast (93% of the total number of emigrants registered). Figures for West Africa provided by the Emigrant Support Institute (Institut d'Appui à l'Émigrant) (IAPE, 1998) reveal that the majority of Cape Verde nationals, an estimated 25,000, emigrated towards Senegal.

These intra-regional migratory movements are closely linked with other migratory routes towards Central and East Africa and the Northern countries (especially the European Union). According to Eurostat data⁶, the West African population in the European Union amounted to 414,942 individuals in 1993, on a level with those in Central Africa, behind those of North Africa (2,076,071) and other African regions (430,076) (Robin, 1996). Senegal accounted for 77,000 individuals within this contingent in 1993, constituting the largest West African group resident in the European Union ahead of Nigeria (72,000) and Cap Verde (43,000). However, Senegalese migration towards the European Union had ups and downs in the nineties, when it was characterised by the appearance of new destinations; although considered for a long time as a source of emigration towards France, the flow of Senegalese immigrants towards Italy and Spain is growing (Robin et al.; 1999; Ndione et al., 2005)⁷. The number of Senegalese living in Italy rose from 27,500 individuals in 1993 to nearly 40,000 in 1999 according to figures provided by the Italian government. 3,190 Senegalese were recorded in Spain in 1993; this figure rose to 11,051 in 2000⁸. Portugal is the most population destination for emigrants from Cape Verde (31,000 in 1993) followed by Italy (5,400), the Netherlands (3,000) and Spain (2,000). A large proportion of Malian emigrants (39,000 in 1993) settle in France (37,693, i.e. 97%) and the same is true of Mauritanian emigrants (8,000 including more than 6,000 in France: 75 %). They originate mainly from the Senegal River valley (the Kayes region in Mali and Guidimakha in Mauritania). The Gambians (11,000) settle mainly in the United Kingdom (3,000), Spain (2,900) and Germany

³ Western Africa Migration and Urbanization Network (REMUAO) coordinated by the Center for Study and Research on Population and Development (CERPOD).

⁴ The seven countries involved are: Burkina Faso, Ivory Coast, Guinea, Mali, Mauritania, Niger and Senegal. ⁵ Cf. Bocquier and Traoré, 1996, op.cit.

⁶ The EU population in 1993 broken down by nationality, Eurostat, 1995.

⁷ Based on figures provided by the 1997/98 DEmIS survey which includes households resident in Dakar and Touba with at least one member who has left to live abroad in the previous ten years, Italy is the first host country for the Senegalese (45% of migrant households; less than 10% move to France; Italy, Spain, Portugal and Greece combined account for 50% of this recent migration.

⁸ According to the Instituto National de Estadistica (National Statistics Institute)

3

(2,600)⁹. Gabon and the Democratic Republic of Congo are the most popular Central African destinations for West African migrants (Ba, 1996; Ndione et Lombard, 2004). However, this flow has shifted towards South Africa since apartheid came to an end. South Africa is seen as a new Eldorado by West African migrants (Bredeloup, 1993; Bouillon, 1996), although this new migratory trend has been quickly reduced by the introduction of administrative obstacles¹⁰.

These international migratory movements exist in a rapidly changing economic, political and social context. Political instability, poor economic performances and the degradation of the environment increase the migratory potential of the source countries. Regions which were not previously affected have gradually turned into areas of economic difficulty and increasing poverty. This extension of the crisis has stimulated the development of new migratory flows in most West African countries. At the same time, host countries both north and south are closing their frontiers, resorting to expulsion in some cases and tightening up their legislation on foreign entrants. Today, more than half the developed countries have introduced measures aimed at restricting the entry of international migrants. Just over 25% of the developing countries are also trying to control the entry of international migrants. In Sub-Saharan Africa, particularly in West Africa, the most popular host countries have from the eighties onwards multiplied the dissuasive measures and the constraints imposed on migrants (introduction of identity cards for foreign nationals, major increases in the cost of visas and residence permits, policies to nationalise employment, the expulsion of foreigners...). In this context, migratory networks evolve and contribute to the reinforcement of migratory systems and to the diversification of migratory sectors and zones of circulation. These networks, which develop into strategies for the avoidance of migration policies, facilitate irregular migration and increase the number of illegal migrants, irregular migrants and political asylum seekers, in addition to refugees and legal migrants.

Although migratory movements in West Africa are governed by bilateral agreements and by treaties between economic communities, the phenomenon of migration remains complex and difficult to manage. It constitutes a major issue and poses real challenges to national governments in the region as well as to regional and sub-regional institutions. The operational challenges posed by migration demand the creation of a global policy framework at the regional level. This framework should take into account the various issues connected with the displacement and settlement of migrant workers and provide long-term solutions to them. One of the components of a joint management policy of migratory flow is the availability of information on all the different aspect of the migratory phenomenon. In effect, the current trends of international migration emphasize, if such emphasis was needed, the role and importance of information as an essential resource for governments wishing to develop a migration policy, for international and regional institutions and for other bodies involved in migration. As a management tool, the implementation of a system to provide information on migration would enhance our understanding of the theoretical and practical questions raised by international migration, while at the same time assisting in decisionmaking.

However, it is difficult to keep track of the migratory phenomenon in time and space given the insufficiency and lack of reliability of existing statistical sources. Currently available data

⁹ Robin, 1996, op. cit. p. 95

¹⁰ The government of Pretoria saw the growing foreign presence as a threat and strengthened its legislation in 1999, introducing an entry visa for the West-African population.

are fragmentary and insufficient for comprehensive, thorough and detailed analysis. A number of countries in the region called on the International Labour Organization (ILO) for assistance in the development of effective policies and practical approaches to migration management, in order to meet this need. In response, the ILO International Labour Migration Programme has developed the "Labour Migration for Integration and Development in West Africa" project, with the financial support of the European Union. This project draws on ILO experience of all aspects of migration and is a response to the concerns expressed by its tripartite constituents in West Africa concerning the implementation of technical cooperation in the management of migrant workers. It constitutes the West African section of a wider project covering three sub-regions of the continent: the Maghreb, West Africa and East Africa. These areas are marked by numerous regional integration initiatives (Arab Maghreb Union, the Euro-Med Process, Economic Community of West African States, Economic Community of East African States).

Within the context of the West African sub-region the project, in addition to a skills development component, includes social dialogue, technical assistance and the completion of surveys aimed specifically at migration statistics and legislation. As a result, national surveys on current legislation and available sources of statistical data have been carried out in the six countries of the sub-region: Burkina Faso, Cape Verde, The Gambia, Mali, Mauritania and Senegal. The present document provides a synthesis of the surveys on international migration statistics carried out in these countries. It is based on the reports produced by the consultants responsible for the national surveys.

After briefly describing the objectives of the survey and our methodological approach, we will first attempt to provide an overview of current sources of statistical data on international migration, based on the national surveys, in order to highlight the nature of the variables recorded on migration, and to make comparisons at the regional level. A second section will be devoted to a critical survey of the concepts and definitions used by the different sources with a view to their harmonization, while highlighting the discrepancies and weaknesses in the current information system and in the databases. We will then address the competencies of the institutions responsible for collecting information on international migrants and the constraints affecting them, followed by the levels of coordination and the use made of statistical data on migration in decision-making. Finally, we will draw our conclusions and make recommendations for the improvement of the statistical information system on international migration at the national and sub-regional levels.

1.2 Aims of the study

The primary objective of this study is to strengthen the capacity of governments and social partners to effectively manage international migration as a tool for development. The aims of the survey, as laid down in the terms of reference, can be summarised in more concrete terms as follows:

- To carry out a survey (listing and analysis) of the information system, sources and statistical databases on migration;
- To assess the nature, definitions, quality and representativity of existing data, and to list the institutions which produce and/or use it;
- To identify the discrepancies in the data, the weaknesses of the databases and institutional constraints affecting the production of reliable information to enhance decision-making at the national and regional levels;

• To recommend priority measures to improve the information system on labour migration.

1.3 Methodology

The national surveys carried out in the six countries are based on documentary and statistical research into the different sources of information which exist on international migration. The methodology adopted by the project used an interview questionnaire designed to elicit an inventory of the sources of data on migration and to obtain information on the nature of the data collected, to list the statistics available, to analyse their methods of operation and to identify the main users of the data. The interview form focussed on four main issues:

- an overall assessment of the statistical information system concerning migrants, in terms of the availability, regularity, reliability and representativity of the data supplied, the soundness of the methods used, the availability of human, material and financial resources to ensure the collection, processing and analysis of the data concerned and the dissemination of the information in the long term;
- several aspects of the interactions between suppliers and users of data concerning migrants (existence and feasibility of a formal collaboration structure for the organisms producing migration data and those using it, the involvement of users by producers in the design of specific surveys on migration or of modules addressing the migratory phenomenon);
- the utilisation of migration data in policies (identification of relevant data for the design and formulation of migration policies, the fit between the real needs expressed by users and decision-makers, and the available statistical data on migration);
- recommendations for the improvement of the statistical data system on migration (identification of specific areas which should be improved, action to be taken to reinforce the links between producers and users of migration data, proposals on how to fill statistical gaps, etc.).

For more detailed information on the contents of the interview form, please see the annex attached to this report.

2. Review of the statistical sources on international migration

In this section, we will consider the various sources of statistical information on international migration listed in the six countries, while at the same time carrying out a critical analysis of the type of information collected, as indicated by the migration variables which are recorded, in order to see to what extent the information collected by source and by country allow comparison at the national and West African regional levels. For greater clarity, we have broken down the sources according to category and to the nature of the information collected on international migration. We have distinguished between four types of source, in line with the as they appear in the national survey reports covering the six countries under review: administrative records, general population censuses, national surveys and local surveys.

2.1 Administrative records

The term "administrative records" is used to designate government departments which collect data for the use of public institutions and not necessarily for dissemination. Analysis

of the national survey reports indicated that the number of administrative sources and types of data collected vary slightly from one country to another (Table 1).

Table 1: Migration statistics based on administrative records, by country

Migration statistics	Entry and Exit flows in and out of national territory	Foreigners living in the country	Nationals living abroad	Migrant workers
Burkina Faso	Department of Surveys and Planning (Ministry of Interior and Security)	Department of Surveys and Planning (Ministry of Interior and Security)	Department of Surveys and Planning (Ministry of Foreign Affairs)	National Agency for Promotion of the Employment National Social Security Funds
Cape Verde	Department of Migration and Borders	Department of Migration and Borders	Institute of Communities	-
The Gambia	Immigration department	Immigration department	Office for the expatriate quota and naturalisation	-
Mali	Department of Police Services (Ministry of Interior Security and Civil Protection)	Department of Police Services (Ministry of Interior Security and Civil Protection)	Department of Malian Abroad (Ministry of Malian Abroad)	-
Mauritania	Department for Control of the Territory	Department for Control of the Territory	Ministry for Foreign Affairs and Cooperation	National Social Security Funds Department of Employment
Senegal	Department of the Police for Foreigners and Permit to Travel (Ministry of Interior)	•	Department of Senegalese Abroad (Ministry of Senegalese Abroad)	Department of Labour and Social Security Department of Employment

Generally speaking, the most plentiful administrative records were those of the border police, the files on foreign residents kept by each country and the registers of emigrants kept by diplomatic and/or consular missions abroad.

The information collected by the border police consists of the entries and exits of passengers in and out of the national territory of each country. The data is based on embarkation and disembarkation cards collected daily at international air- and seaports, as well as from terrestrial frontier posts. These cards usually provide information on:

- the identity of the person and their entry/exit dates;
- their country of origin/destination and nationality;
- planned length of stay and reasons for travelling.

These documents constitute a rich mine of information which may be combined to indicate chronological series charting migratory flows over time and to calculate the international migration balance for each country in real time.

The files on foreigners are based on the visas and identity cards (residence permits) issued to foreign nationals resident in each country. These files usually provide information on:

- nationality and country of origin;

- age, sex, family status and level of education;
- the type of visa or residence permit; the length of validity of the visa or residence permit;
- date of entry on national territory;
- job occupied, sector of activity and occupational status.

This administrative source provides the necessary data to calculate the foreign resident population as well as the numbers of migrant workers resident in each country.

The registers of nationals living abroad provide information on the demographic and occupational status of those registered and their families (spouse(s) and child(ren)) as well as their address in the host country and reference address in the country of origin. This source thus provides the information required to estimate the number of nationals legally resident abroad.

Apart from these three sources, the reports on Mauritania, Senegal and Burkina Faso describe other types of administrative data on international migration. These are as follows:

Mauritania:

- the National Social Security Fund (CNSS), which is responsible for the administration of social security pensions for all workers, in particular foreign residents. The CNSS database provides the following information on each person insured: the name of the employee, their nationality, age, sex, the name and address of their employer, the year of registration. The CNSS database is computerized.
- the Employment Directorate, which issues work permits to foreign nationals to enable them to take up employment in the formal sector. This body has statistics on foreign nationals authorized to take up an economic activity. The following information is available for each permit which is issued: reference number, the name of the employee, the nationality of the employee, the post occupied, the name and address of the employer, the validity of the permit. Data is stored in an Excel file.

Senegal:

- The Employment and Social Security Department, responsible for the administration of information on Senegalese workers actively employed abroad and for the issuing of work permits to foreigners resident in Senegal;
- The Employment Department which is responsible for the administration of statistical information on employment for both the national and foreign populations in Senegal.

Burkina Faso:

- The National Employment and Occupational Training Agency which records job applications and also organises recruitment tests on behalf of employers. It produces statistics on both national and international job applications and offers (three-monthly, six-monthly and annually). It also monitors employment contracts for foreign workers.
- The National Social Security Fund which processes old age, accident and occupational disease insurance files and family allowances. It pays three-monthly pensions for Burkinabe nationals who have worked abroad.

The diplomatic missions accredited in each country also constitute an equally valuable source of statistical information on registered nationals. The data they collected relate in particular to:

- the number of nationals of the country to which the diplomatic and/or consular mission belongs who are resident in the host country;
- the number of nationals of the host country resident in the country to which the diplomatic and/or consular mission belongs;
- the number of visas and residence permits issued by the country to which the diplomatic and/or consular mission belongs, to nationals of the country in which it is located:
- the number of actively employed nationals of the country to which the diplomatic and/or consular mission belongs, broken down by sex, age, employment sector, length of residence, etc.
- the number of nationals of the host country working in the country to which the diplomatic and/or consular mission belongs, broken down by sex, age, employment sector, length of residence, etc.

The report on Mauritania provides a good example and shows the special value of the data collected by the diplomatic and/or consular services, which provided the necessary data for the following calculations:

- Senegalese Embassy: 250 000 Senegalese were registered (with 80% actively employed). This figure applied to Senegalese nationals having lived at one time or another on Mauritanian territory. It must not be confused with the number of Senegalese currently resident in Mauritania. The Embassy estimated the number of Mauritanians resident in Senegal at 250 000 (including 1 300 students).
- Malian Embassy: there were 15 000 Malians of voting age living in Mauritania according to the recent administrative census carried out by the Embassy staff at the time of the 2001 presidential election in Mali. The Embassy estimated that a further 15 000 Malians did not register at the time of the census.
- Moroccan Embassy: 1963 nationals were registered.
- Chinese Embassy: 1 000 Chinese nationals were registered in Mauritania (including 30 women). Among them, 800 worked in the fishing sector, 113 in the road building and oil sectors, 27 on medical projects in Mauritania and 60 in catering services and trade
- Ivory Coast Consulate: 350 Ivorians were registered and approximately 100 were not registered.
- Russian Embassy: 630 were registered including 500 sailors.

Administrative structures have the – potential – advantage of providing information on the flows and stocks of international migrants on a continuous basis. They thus provide an opportunity to obtain complementary information on:

- nationals of each country resident abroad;
- the foreign population resident in each country;
- the foreign population legally resident in the host country (specifically);
- the nationals of each country legally resident in a foreign country (specifically);
- the number of nationals registered with the diplomatic and/or consular authorities (specifically);

- migrant workers resident in each country;
- international emigration and immigration.

Administrative sources, once created or up-dated, may constitute an important network for the collection and transmission of information on international migration with a view to the creation of a reliable statistical information system, thus providing governments with the tools they need for the efficient management of both their nationals resident abroad and also foreigners resident in their country.

However, the structures which supply the data do not often have the technical capacity to exploit and process it which would enable them to provide sophisticated statistical products. In the end, although they record almost all categories of migrants, these sources are often imprecise and of little help for the detailed measurement and analysis of international migration. Censuses and surveys are required as a source of information on international migration in order to compensate for these deficiencies.

2.2 General population censuses

Census reports are the main source of information concerning the population status of a country. A census provides a detailed inventory of a given population at the most detailed geographical level¹¹. A United Nations definition describes it as "the group of operations which consists of collecting, grouping, evaluating, analysing and publishing demographic, economic and social data concerning all the inhabitants of a country or a defined area of a country, at a given moment in time"¹².

Questions related to migration which are usually included in a census concern:

- 1) the place (country) of residence at the time of the census;
- 2) the place (country) of birth;
- 3) the situation of residence;
- 4) the place of residence prior to a given date;
- 5) the length of residence in the country where the census is being carried out;
- 6) nationality or citizenship.

The crossing of these variables enables international migrants to be grouped into several categories:

- sedentary population (non-migrants) for whom the place of birth, the previous (or earlier) place of residence at the time when the data is collected, is located in the country where the census is being carried out. These are residents who are natives of the country and have not migrated internationally since their birth;
- "life-time" migrants ("settled" immigrants): they are the result of a comparison between the country of birth and the country of residence at the time of the census. These are non-natives (born outside the country where they are registered and declaring the same country of residence at the time of the census and at an earlier date);
- "recent" immigrants; this category is the result of a comparison between the residence at the time of the census and the previous country of residence (or

¹¹ CEPED, (1994), « La démographie de 30 états d'Afrique et de l'Océan indien » eds du Ceped, 351p.

¹² United Nations (1958), quoted by CEPED (1994), op. cit.

- earlier). It concerns individuals registered in a country whose previous place of residence is in another country;
- multiple migrants who declare three different countries (the country of birth; the country of prior residence and the country of census are not the same);
- returning migrants, i.e. individuals born in the country where the census is being carried out but whose earlier (or previous) residence was abroad.
- Foreigners who declare a different nationality (or citizenship) to that of the country where they are included in the census;
- Emigrants who are recorded either at their place of residence, where the population covered by the census is classified in 4 groups (current resident, absent resident, visitor and emigrant), or in a special section of the census questionnaire.

Several census operations have been carried out in the six countries of the sub-region targeted by the project. The following table summarizes these data collection operations by year and according to the migration variables which were included.

Table 2: Three most recent censuses by country, year and migration variables included

Country	Year of	Place	Place of	Previous	Length of	Nationality	Migrant	Migrant
	the	of	residence	place of	stay in	or	(residence	(section of
	Census	birth	at the	residence	current	citizenship	status)	questionnaire)
			time of		residence			
			the					
			census					
	1975	Χ	Χ	-	-	Χ	Χ	-
Burkina	1985	Χ	Χ	Χ	-	Χ	-	-
Faso	1996	Χ	Χ	Χ	X	Χ	Χ	-
	1980	Χ	Χ	Χ	-	Χ	-	Х
	1990	X	X	X		X	_	X
Cape Verde	2000	X	X	X		X	-	X
	1983	Χ	Χ	Χ	-	-	-	-
The	1993	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	-	-	-
Gambia	2003	Χ	Χ	Χ		Χ	-	-
	1976	Χ	Χ	•	•	Χ	-	-
	1987	Χ	Χ	-	-	Χ	-	-
Mali	1998	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	-	-
	1977	Χ	Χ	-	-	Χ	-	-
	1988	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	-	Χ
Mauritania	2000	Χ	Χ	Χ		Χ	-	
	1976	Χ	Χ	•	•	Χ	-	-
Senegal	1988	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	-	-
	2002	Χ	Χ	Χ	-	Χ	-	Х

As the table shows, the migration variables recorded in different censuses are not always identical, and this applies within the separate countries as well as between the six countries. This variation in the choice of variables between one data collection project and another raises the problem of the comparability of the data collected by the different censuses. We will come back to this issue later.

In general terms, Table 2 indicates that most of the census information on international migration is provided by cross comparison between the place of birth and the place of residence at the time of the census. The number of residents born abroad (life-time immigrants) can be estimated on the basis of this information. This method does not provide information on migration flows over time; it excludes foreigners, returning migrants and emigrants (born in the country in question and resident abroad).

In addition the variables: place of birth, place of residence prior to a given date and place of residence at the time of the census are fairly frequently included in different censuses, especially from 1980 onwards. Their cross-analysis provides opportunities to measure certain other aspects of the phenomenon of international migration. It also enables the definition of a relatively large sub-population group of returning migrants, who were classified as international migrants at an earlier date indicated in the census.

Questions concerning length of residence which would provide information on the recent or older nature of the migration are not often included, particularly in the most recent censuses (Senegal 2002, Mauritania 2000). In this respect, few West African countries follow the United Nations recommendations of the eighties, intended to introduce the concept of length of residence alongside the already existing place of birth, in order to provide basic data on the volume of migration flows at various times in the past (Ricca, 1990).

Nationality, on the other hand, is often declared and should theoretically permit the measurement of the foreign population in the country where the census has been carried out. However, it is important to pay careful attention to how this factor is used. As certain writers emphasize (Ricca, 1990; Dackam-Ngatchou, 1996), the definition of "foreigner" varies depending on whether it is based on nationality or place of birth. In certain countries the place of birth constitutes the most reliable indicator concerning foreign status. This approach, which includes nationals born abroad among the immigrants, provides results which are incompatible with those of countries where the notion of "foreigner" is based on citizenship. As indicated in the section on concepts and definitions, a foreigner (based on nationality) is different to an immigrant (based on birthplace). Increasingly strict legislation concerning border crossing makes the determining role of nationality on international migration obvious, particularly when focusing on the main types of migration (workers and refugees). However, the measurement of the foreign population based on nationality provides indications concerning the effects of migration on age and generation as well as on the contribution of foreigners to the natural flow of the population within the host country.

Certain countries including Burkina Faso (1975, 1996), Cape Verde (1980, 1990, 2000) Mauritania (1988) and more recently Senegal (2002) have included specific variables in their censuses in order to obtain information on emigrant populations. Nevertheless, the evaluation of international emigration frequently remains fragmented, concentrating only on recent emigrants (during the previous 12 months in the 1975 Burkina Faso census; during the previous 5 years in the 2002 Senegal census). The censuses carried out in 1996 in Burkina Faso and in 1988 in Mauritania covered their respective national populations resident abroad for more than 6 months. Only Cape Verde seems to include all nationals living abroad and members of their families in all their censuses.

Censuses could thus constitute a major source of useful information on international migration. In order to tap this source, however, countries which share the same poles of

migration must agree to harmonize the concepts and variables used in connection with these surveys, and adopt a rhythm that would enable the data to be collected in the same year in all the areas concerned.

12

2.3 National Surveys

Demographic surveys based on sampling, when carried out at a national level and applied to representative population groups, provide better opportunities for measurement and analysis than censuses. Such surveys, less cumbersome to implement and less costly than censuses, provide data on both structure and flow. In this respect it is worth noting at this point that national surveys are often a response to specific concerns on a particular subject (fertility, health, mortality, poverty, migration, etc.) Unless specifically aimed at the subject, they provide only indirect information on the phenomenon of migration, in the same way as censuses.

Until the late eighties there were few studies specifically aimed at the observation and analysis of international migration in West Africa. J. Condé and K.C. Zachariah were responsible for one of the earliest studies on the subject in the seventies (Condé and Zachariah, 1978). This study, which was financed by the World Bank, enabled them to identify migratory levels and trends in West Africa based on the results of national censuses available at the time. Based on "life-time" migration indices, the authors concluded that three countries were the destination of most international migrants in West Africa: Senegal, Ivory Coast and Nigeria.

Another national survey on migratory movements was carried out in the Haute Volta (Burkina Faso) in 1974-5 by the CVRS¹³ and the INSD¹⁴, with the support of the University of Montreal. The survey provided information on migratory routes, the characteristics of international migrants and their destinations which was used as the foundation for a historical analysis of internal and international migratory labour movements from the period of colonisation until independence (Cordell et al., 1996).

Finally, the Senegal River Valley Survey was carried out in 1982 by the OECD and the Sahel Institute operating in the three countries through which the river flows (Senegal, Mali and Mauritania). This survey focused mainly on migration towards Europe, and France in particular (Condé et al., 1986).

Although few and far between, migration surveys have helped to stimulate increased interest in population movements in West Africa, particularly in connection with policy-making on population issues (Bocquier and Traoré, 1996). This region is now believed to have one of highest concentrations of migrants in the world (Grégory and Piché, 1985); Russel et al., 1990; Adepoju, 1990; Cordell et al., 1996). This changed situation underlined the need for specific studies on West-African migration at both the sub-regional and national levels, and/or the inclusion of more migration variables in censuses and national surveys not directly focused on the subject. It is what led to the initiation of the surveys carried out by REMUAO (West African Migration and Urbanisation Network).

¹³ Centre Voltaïque de Recherches Scientifiques (Haute Volta Centre for Scientific Research)

¹⁴ Institut National de la Statistique et de la Démographie (National Institute of Statistics and Demography)

The REMUAO West African Migration and Urbanisation surveys were the first of their kind undertaken in the sub-region which specifically address internal and international migration. They were carried out in 1992-93 within the framework of a multi-disciplinary research network covering eight West African countries (Burkina Faso, Guinea, Ivory Coast, Mali, Mauritania, Niger, Nigeria and Senegal) and coordinated by the CERPOD (Centre for study and research on population and development). They consist of national one-off retrospective surveys based on samples of representative households in each country involved 15. The following immigration variables are included in the household survey: place of birth, previous place of residence, current place of residence and length of residence in the current location. The biographical questionnaire provides further information on the migratory history of selected migrants aged 15 years and over. Finally, emigration is captured by means of an emigrant questionnaire submitted to the household respondent, concerning members of the household who left the country between 1988 and 1993 and who were still resident abroad at the time of the survey.

13

The aim of these data collection operations was to record and understand social relations based on the conditions and ways and means of migrants' integration and their relationships with their original environment. The operations have provided substantial information on the volume, form and direction of internal migration within each country, in addition to providing information on international migration. As a result, these surveys are a very rich source of data for the measurement and analysis of migration. They now constitute the primary reference on migration in West Africa.

Table 3 provides a list of the three most recent national surveys carried out in each of the six countries under review, directly or indirectly related to issues of international migration. Please note that only data collection operations of a demographic type likely to provide substantial information on international migration are taken into account here.

¹⁵ With the exception of Nigeria where the survey covered only 22 of the 31 States of the Federation.

Table 3: The three most recent surveys by country and year, showing the migration variables

Country	Survey	Migration variables
	1991 Demographic survey (INDS)	Migratory routes; place of birth; length of residence; destination; previous place of residence; most recent migration; place of residence at the time of the survey, emigrants
Burkina Faso	1993 Survey on migration and urbanisation in Burkina Faso (INDS/CERPOD)	Place of birth, previous place of residence, current place of residence, migrant status; emigrants in the previous 5 years and in particular age at the time of departure and country of destination; migration routes (all periods of at least 6 months residence from time of birth up to the time of the survey), especially places of residence, principal activity (type, status, sector), age at the end of each period, reason for departure; immigrants living outside their place of birth giving the reasons for migration, the conditions under which migration took place, gains for the place of origin, goods and cash transmitted to the place of origin; migrants who have returned to their place of birth in the ten years prior to the survey (same questions for immigrants)
	2000 survey on migration, urban integration and the environment in Burkina Faso (UERD)	Migration routes; place of birth; length of residence; destination; previous place of residence; previous migration; place of residence at the time of the survey; emigrants.
Cape Verde	The report does not mention national surveys	
The Gambia	Nation-wide migrations study 1978	The report does not mention the migration variable included in the survey
	Migration survey in the river valley (1982/83)	the survey
Mali	1993 Survey on migration and urbanization in Mali	1993 (REMUOA)
	households	Place of birth, previous place of residence, current place of residence
	1993 Survey on migration and urbanisation in Mauritania	1993 (REMUOA)
Mauritania	Demographic and health survey in the year 2000.	the survey
	Survey on living conditions in households in 2004	The report does not mention the migration variables included in the survey
Senegal	Survey on Migration and urbanization in Senegal (1993) 123 Survey	Same variables as for the survey carried out in Burkina Faso in 1993 (REMUOA) The report does not mention the migration variables included in
Conogai	Senegalese Household Survey	the survey Place of birth, current place of residence, nationality, emigrants broken down by age on departure, country of destination, reasons for migration, cash transfers towards Senegal.

2.4 Local surveys

In addition to national statistical sources, migrant populations have been included in local surveys in all six countries targeted by the project. These are usually restricted to one village or suburb, one town or at best a group of locations scattered over one region or province. Such surveys do not measure the phenomenon; instead, they contribute to our understanding of them. They cannot provide precise information on the numbers of international migrants, their geographical distribution and their origin, unlike the national censuses and surveys which provide information on these factors, of varying quality.

The main surveys listed in the national reports are as follows¹⁶:

Burkina Faso

The 1969-71 survey carried out by J.M. Kohler

J.M. Kohler carried out a series of surveys on temporary migration (less than 10 years' duration) among the Mossi population in the western part of Burkina Faso, between October 1969 and May 1971, as part of the Orstom programme. He carried out a census in 19 villages covering approximately 32 000 individuals and questioned a sample of 8 700 people about their migrations, before focusing his attention on a smaller sample of 300 returning migrants. He questioned the latter on various aspects of their migratory movement and particularly their financial savings, their marital status, the comparative profitability of cash crops (especially cotton) and income from migration. Although there is absolutely no information on households, families and smallholdings, there is a fair amount of information on the marital system, on opinions and especially on group thinking about migration.

The further Orstom survey of 1972-73 in Mossi territory

This further survey, carried out under the supervision of A. Quesnel and J. Vaugelade, was strictly limited to the Mossi and Bissa rural territories (the two ethnic groups live in neighbouring regions). Its objective was to carry out a second series of interviews, in 1972, in the concessions which were studied in 1960-61. A detailed questionnaire was used to solicit information on the smallholdings: nature, composition, size, number of inhabitants, family assistance, etc. 5950 smallholdings, involving 61 650 individuals, were covered in the survey. A special module was devoted to each migratory movement by the men of the smallholding after 1961, as well as on the future of all the individuals connected with the smallholding who were present in 1961. 6 800 individuals were questioned. One of the original aspects of this survey was the design of a questionnaire on the matrimonial events affecting each individual since 1961. However, given the cumbersome nature of such a questionnaire, it was used for only a strictly limited sub-sample of individuals.

Without a shadow of doubt, this is the survey which is most rich in information on internal structures (family, household, smallholding, marital system, etc.) in Mossi territory, and it enabled a comprehensive analysis of migration to be carried out which included the structural characteristics of the community of origin. Many studies based on this survey¹⁷ have in fact focused on the effects of internal Mossi social structures on migration.

 $^{^{16}}$ The reports on Cape Verde and The Gambia do not mention any surveys carried out at the local level.

¹⁷ Quesnel et al (1975, 1977, 1985); Marchal J.Y (1975, 1983), to name but a few.

It is perhaps a pity that the migration questionnaire was administered only to men. Even though masculine migration, particularly across a national boundary, is more frequent and more dependent on economic conditions, this should not make us ignore feminine migration. It is also surprising that a survey of this importance should cover only part of the country, unlike the 1960-61 survey on which it was based.

The further Orstom survey (1976) in Lobi and Dagara territory

This survey, carried out by D. Benoit, P. Levi, J. Papail et F. Sodter, was used to update the demographic survey carried out in 1960-61 by R. Clairin. It covered the Lobi and Dagara territories of the south-western region. It was one of the few surveys which focussed specifically on migration carried out outside the Mossi territory in the seventies. The questionnaires and the methodology were identical to those used in the 72-73 survey, although the period of reference for migration was 3 months (instead of 6) for the survey carried out in the Lobi area. Furthermore, the migration questionnaire was administered to everybody, men and women, in the Lobi area, unlike the survey in the Mossi area which reserved the migration questionnaire exclusively for men. The personal migration histories were written up even for the deceased, based on indirect information obtained from heads of households. The sample covered 22 villages and 5 629 individuals.

The ORSTOM repeated survey

This was carried out between 1986 and 1994 in the Mossi region (Yako, Gourcy and Pissila provinces) and in the south-western region (Niangoloko province). The survey covered 34 villages and reached approximately 30 000 individuals; it was repeated every six months.

Mali

Migration survey in the Senegal River Valley carried out in 1982/83

This survey focussed on international migration among the Senegal River population (Mali, Mauritania and Senegal). It initially covered the households of migrants in France and provided a certain amount of information on the characteristics of migrant workers including place of birth. The second stage of the survey was carried out in the regions where the migrants originated. In Mali, the information was limited almost entirely to the Kayes and Yélimané circles, in the Kayes region. The sample in both circles included both the villages which were not represented in the French sample as well as those which were.

Survey on economic reintegration projects for migrants returning to Mali (Bamako, Kayes) (2002)

This survey, which was initiated by the International Migration Organization (IOM) with the financial support of the Swiss government, covered a sample of 100 returning migrants who had developed economic reintegration programmes in the district of Bamako and the region of Kayes. The survey comprised a series of questions on the socio-economic and geographical characteristics of the emigrants and their impact on the evolution of each reintegration project, the migratory history of the individual and its influence on the start-up and development of the project, long-term evolution of the projects, based on the sense of initiative of the promoters, capital invested, the obstacles which arose and the conditions under which the latter were – or were not – overcome.

Mauritania

1995 Survey on Migrations and urbanization in Mauritania (C.O. Abdellahi) which covered internal migratory movements, the rural exodus, the motives behind migration and the characteristics of migrants.

1998 Survey on the nomad populations (M.L.O Moujtaba) which provided information for the analysis of the characteristics of the nomads, as well as the trend towards sedentarization and the reasons for it.

<u>2002 Survey on the socio-economic determinants of migration (M.M El Mouvide)</u> which analysed the determinants of migration in terms of the characteristics of migration, land distribution and the reasons for migration.

<u>2002 Survey on the socio-economic consequences of migration (S.M.O Jived)</u> which analysed the effects of migration on the living conditions of non-migrants, on the demographic structure of households and their socio-economic development.

New trends in the migratory phenomenon in Mauritania (M.L.C Malainine, 2002) which enabled the analysis of migratory intensity, the evolution of migration over time, migratory behaviour by age cohort and the motives behind migration.

Senegal

In Senegal, the Senegal River Valley has traditionally been the object of special surveys on international migration, which include the following:

Survey on migration among the Senegal River population (Kane F. and Lericollais A., 1975). The objectives of this research into migratory movements among the population of the Senegal river valley were to measure their amplitude, to discover the circumstances which led up to them and the way they were carried out, integration in the host regions, the preservation of links with the country of origin and their effects on traditional activities. The data was collected by means of an exhaustive survey among all the encampments and villages in the valley (in Senegal and in Mauritania); the aim was to map out and analyse the distribution of the male population, their economic activities and their resources. Emigrants towards foreign countries in Africa and in Europe were listed by "tent" and by "plot". Migration towards the towns and regions of Senegal and Mauritania was not recorded systematically.

Survey on North-South international migration. A case study: Malien, Mauritanian and Senegalese migrants from the Senegal River Valley, in France (Condé J. et Diagne P. S., 1982/83) (see previous paragraphs on Mali)

Surveys in the middle reaches of the Senegal River Valley (Guilmoto C., 1992-93)

These consist of a series of repetitive surveys carried out in the rural area of the middle reaches of the Valley (Podor province), among a sample of nearly 900 households living in 12 clusters. The main data collected concerned family standards of living and the migratory biographies of the adults over the 20-year period prior to the survey. The surveys (carried out at six-monthly intervals) concentrated on information concerning economic activities, changes in family status and geographical location, including of short duration, in the periods between surveys. Following up the sample made it possible to collect information from

3 599 persons 15 years old and over, in 805 households, on both past migrations and recent forms of mobility, as well as on agricultural activities over several years.

More recent surveys on international migration have centred on locations in the Dakar region and regions in the "ground-nut basin" (Diourbel and Kaolack). These include the following:

Survey on determinants of international migration in Senegal (IRD-DPS, 1997/98)

This survey was carried out in the towns of Dakar/Pikine and Touba, covering 1713 households and 6 311 individual migrants and non-migrants. The information collected from households concerned mainly the economic situation of the household and its living conditions. At the individual level, information was collected on the current marital and work status of individuals and their socio-demographic characteristics. The migratory history of the individual was mapped out including both migration within Senegal and international migration. The composition of the household was documented as well as the economic situation of the individual just prior to the most recent international migration, or five years before the survey for non-migrants. Four modules elicited information on the migratory process: i) the motives for migration, ii) information possessed by the migrants before they moved, iii) assistance provided when leaving and on arrival in the host country, and iv) their professional activities while migrant. A final module dealt with their intentions concerning future migration.

Survey on determinants of international migration in the town of Kaolack (Ndione B., 1997)

This survey was carried out in four neighbourhoods of the town of Kaolack, characterised by a high level of international emigration. 2,546 households were inventoried in these neighbourhoods, 39% being migrant households. Based on this survey sample, 400 households were investigated and 4 044 individuals were listed. Demographic, social and economic information was collected on each member of the household as well as information on the conditions of family life. A more detailed questionnaire was used with returning international migrants and emigrants who were temporarily present at the time of the survey. The latter comprised six modules as follows: i) migratory biography, ii) links and contacts with the host country, iii) links and contacts with the country and region of origin, iv) decision to leave, v) migratory and assistance networks, vi) aims or projects connected with international migration and means of re-integration.

In addition, the four neighbourhoods were included in a qualitative survey based on two partly open-ended question grids, one aimed at key informants (prominent local figures and traditional or religious leaders) and the other at international migrants who were passing through, in a total of 48 interviews. These interviews provided descriptions of the migratory and social history of the district, its mode of functioning and organization as well as neighbourhood links between the inhabitants. The descriptions also provided information on issues such as the spread of the migratory phenomenon within the district, the help and support received at the time of departure and on arrival from relatives or friends in the district, and economic and symbolic transfers within each neighbourhood.

Survey on housing investments in the suburbs of Dakar on the part of international migrants (Tall S.M., 1994)

This survey was carried out in the suburbs of Dakar (the capital of Senegal). Four suburbs with varying histories and origins were investigated, located between the outer suburbs and the edge of the urban area: Grand Dakar, Grand Yoff, Parcelles Assainies and Pikine. The

survey examined the variety of migratory locations and the diversity of the investments in housing made by international migrants. A morphological analysis of these investments revealed a multiplicity of influences: traditional thinking, borrowing from host country models; individual preferences as well as urban and official constraints.

2.5 Other sources listed in the national reports

Other sources of data on international migration were revealed in the six national reports. These consisted of special sources on specific groups of migrants:

The "file" of Burkinabe students with grants abroad

The general administration of career guidance and the department of study grants has a list of students receiving study grants abroad. However, the list is not up-to-date. In addition, it does not provide a complete list of Burkinabe students abroad, because only students on government grants are included.

The "file" of the Burkina Faso Committee for refugees

This Committee produces statistics on refugees at regular intervals, which makes it possible to follow the evolution of political crises in African and to evaluate the efforts made by the United Nations in the management of refugees and displaced persons.

The National Integration Committee

The role of this Committee is to improve the integration process in the countries of the subregion. In order to fulfil this role, it collaborates with diplomatic representatives installed in Burkina Faso and the associations of the various foreign communities. The structure does not produce statistical data on immigrants. It works towards the integration of these communities within the Burkinabe social system. It does not have the necessary resources to collect statistical information on migrants. The information which it has at its disposal is supplied by the diplomatic representatives and the associations. These data, according to the Permanent Secretary of the Commission, are not reliable. The National Committee estimates that there are approximately two million foreigners living in Burkina Faso.

The Permanent Secretariat of the "Superior Council" for Burkinabe citizens abroad
This is responsible for the administration of Burkinabe citizens abroad. It is in permanent contact with Burkinabe embassies and consulates, but does not produce statistics on Burkinabe emigrants.

International Organization for Migration (IOM)

The International Organization for Migration opened an office in Burkina Faso in 2003, following the political crisis in the Ivory Coast. Since its establishment, this office has taken over the responsibility for the administration of those repatriated from the Ivory Coast. Between June 2003 and September 2003, the Organization processed the files of 7 500 people repatriated from the Ivory Coast. These included citizens of Burkina Faso; Mali, Guinea, etc. The IOM does not have statistics on the migration phenomenon. It works with certain national and international bodies in order to manage repatriation issues.

The "file" of the Cape Verde General Directorate of Higher and Scientific Education
This source concerns Cape Verdean students following courses of higher education abroad;
the statistics for certain countries can be broken down by age, gender and field of study.

The "file" of the National Institute for the promotion of technical and occupational training (INA-FTP)

This Institute carries out studies on certain trades and professions considered likely to offer employment. In 2004, the INA-FTP carried out special surveys on the employment situation and training needs in the following sub-sectors: "car mechanics", "building and public works", "cooling and air conditioning", "office skills and accountancy" and "clothing and textiles". The surveys provided information on the number of occupied posts and the number of employees in each sub-sector in 2004, by nationality.

The "file" of the Union of Mauritanian Workers (UTM)

The UTM has 54 000 workers registered in 32 federations with 2 branches abroad (Spain, France). The UTM does not have foreign members and therefore has no foreign labour in Mauritania. However, it has carried out a survey on taxi-drivers in three towns (Nouakchott, Nouadhibou and Zouerat), covering 1 650 foreign taxi-drivers. The only information available from the UTM concerns the number of Mauritanians working abroad who are registered members of its branch offices in France (2 000 members) and Spain (1 500 members).

The Observatory on International Migration in Senegal

This was set up by the International Organization for Migration (OIM) in partnership with the Ministry of Justice and the Senegalese "Ministère des Sénégalais de l'extérieur" in order to enhance the migration management capacity of the latter two. The data collected has not yet been made public.

Databases on the expertise of Senegalese and Malian managers abroad

These databases were set up by the UNDP as part of the TOKTEN project (Technology Knowledge of Expatriate Nationals). They provide information on the identities and profiles of expatriate managers; their objective is to provide assistance to the country of origin through the transfer of knowledge, and in particular of knowledge acquired in the host country.

In addition, censuses carried out in certain countries have been used to assess the international migrant population. This indirect assessment was produced by Russel et al (1990) based on thirty-three censuses carried out in 1970 and 1980 in Sub-Saharan Africa, and provided a rough picture of intra-African migration movements. The Eurostat data, based on censuses carried out in member countries of the European Union, also provide a considerable amount of detailed information on migration towards Europe from the countries of the sub-region.

To summarise, the image of international migration in the countries covered by the project is based on the simultaneous use of several techniques and the comparison of statistical information obtained by processing data from diverse sources.

3. Concepts and definitions used in migration statistics

Careful and precise definition of the terms used by the various statistical sources on international migration is a prerequisite if the reader is to be provided with clear and

unambiguous information. Our aim here is to define the nature of the criteria and of the statistical categories used, and to clarify their links with the concepts and definitions which are universally recommended. The question is whether the terms used by the statistical systems in the countries under review are in line with international and ILO recommendations and whether the concepts and definitions which are used permit statistical comparison at the level of the West African Region.

3.1 Criteria based on space (location) and time (duration)

The United Nations defines an international migrant as "any person who changes their country of usual residence". The crossing of an international frontier with a change of normal place of residence is what differentiates international and internal migration; the latter remains within the State borders. At its simplest, the notion of migration therefore involves at least a move from one geographical location to another. Thus defined, the migratory phenomenon comprises two fundamental concepts: time and space.

The concept of space refers to the different places which one individual occupies in the course of a lifetime. The first ambiguity which must be removed concerns the precise location of each place of residence, based on the phenomenon under review (internal or international migration). Taking an international approach implies that the place of residence is any clearly outlined geographical entity circumscribed in concrete terms by a border. As a result, international migration involves a transfer of the place of residence from one country to another.

Time is expressed by the notion of length of residence in a location. There is no consensus in this case on the definition of length of residence; each country applies its own criteria, which are not necessarily those of neighbouring countries, although the population concerned may be the same. The different sources of statistical data on migration available in the six countries under review apply several reference periods or lengths of residence:

- Five or ten years for previous place of residence: these reference periods are often used in censuses but also in a certain number of national and local surveys;
- six-month period of residence (or less than six months with the intention to stay for longer than six months) as a definition of migration: many censuses and national surveys are based on this criterion;
- three-month period of residence (special investigations into migration in Burkina Faso);
- one-year period of residence (or less than one year with the intention of staying for more than one year) to define migration in certain specific surveys (e.g. Survey on determinants of international migration in Senegal).

The concepts of migrant, non-migrant, returning migrant, immigrant/emigrant, migrant worker, migratory flow, emigration/immigration rates, relative migratory intensity and migratory balance are based on these definitions of the migratory phenomenon.

3.2 Categories of migrants and migration indicators

Migrant: any person who has changed their place of residence for a given period of time.

Non-migrant: any person living in a location who has never changed their usual place of residence.

<u>Returning migrant</u>: any individual who has changed their usual place of residence but is again resident in their place of birth when the data is collected.

<u>Immigrant and emigrant</u>: these concepts define a migrant population depending on whether reference is to the sending area or the host area. The term immigrant refers to the host area, while emigrant refers to the point of departure.

<u>Migrant worker</u>: a migrant worker in the strict sense of the word is a migrant who has an employment contract, particularly in the modern sector. In this case, he/she is obliged under the legislation to have a residence permit, and will be issued with an immigrant identity card.

<u>Migratory flow</u>: this term is used to describe overall migratory movements between two geographical areas during a given period.

<u>Emigration rate</u>: the emigration rate is obtained by comparing migratory flows away from a given area with the number of years of residence in it. This area respresents the origin of the emigration. The population of the host area does not enter into account.

<u>Immigration rate</u>: the immigration rate is calculated by comparing migratory flows towards a given area with the number of years of residence, the area in question being the destination of the migration. The population of the sending area does not enter into account.

<u>Migratory balance</u>: the migratory balance is the whole number ratio (positive or negative) obtained by comparing migratory in-flows and out-flows to and from a given geographical area.

<u>Net migration rate</u>: the net migration rate (migratory growth) is obtained by comparing the migratory balance of a given geographical area with the total number of years of residence.

<u>Relative migratory density rate</u>: the relative migratory density rate from one area towards another is obtained by comparing the migratory flow from the first towards the second with the sum of the years of residence in each of the two zones. This figure is based on the population of the two areas.

It is therefore important to distinguish between flows (those entering or leaving over a given period) and stocks (population residence at any given time). The concept of "migrant" (emigrant, immigrant), which is based on a geographical criterion (move from one place to another) must not be confused with that of a "foreigner", which is based on a legal definition: a foreigner is a person who does not have the nationality of the country in which he/she resides.

3.3 Categorization based on the time criterion

- **Lifetime migration:** refers to the displacement of an individual whose place of residence at the time the data is collected is different to that of their place of birth.

- **Recent migration:** is the displacement of an individual whose last migration is what is known as "recent". In other words, an individual whose place of residence at the time of the data collection is different to their previous place of residence (when it is known) and whose change of residence occurred in the recent past (less than one year or less than 5 years, depending on the reference period).
- Ancient migration: is the displacement of an individual whose most recent migration lies in the more distant past. In other words, an individual whose place of residence at the time of data collection is unchanged, but not that of their place of birth. The change in place of residence occurred prior to the period of reference (more than one year or 5 years previously).

3.4 Categorization based on the space criterion

- Simple migration: the displacement of an individual whose place of residence at the time of data collection and/or previous place of residence is different to that of their place of birth. When the previous place of residence is different to the place of birth, it is identical to the place of residence at the time the data is collected.
- *Multiple migration:* the displacement of an individual for whom the three places of residence (birth, prior to, and at the time of, data collection) are different.
- *Return migration*: the displacement of an individual whose place of residence at the time of data collection is that of the place of birth but different to the previous place of residence. The return which is thus defined may be either temporary (less than 6 months) or permanent.

Please note that multiple and returning migrants are always "recent" migrants.

4. Data collection institutions: roles, competencies and constraints

This section deals with the evaluation of data collection measures, processing and dissemination of migration statistics in the countries under review. The emphasis will be placed on the data collection projects for which these institutions are responsible, at the same time outlining their strengths and weaknesses.

4.1 The role of data collection institutions

The six countries involved in the current study all have a central specialized institution for the collection; processing and analysis of statistical data, particularly on migration: the National Institute of Statistics and Demography (Institut National de la Statistique et de la Démographie) (INSD) in Burkina Faso, the National Statistics Institute (Institut National de la Statistique) (INS) in Cape Verde, the Central Statistics Department (CSD) in The Gambia, the Department of National Statistics and Computing (Direction Nationale de la Statistique et de l'Informatique) (DNSI) in Mali, the National Statistics Bureau (Office Nationale de la Statistique) (ONS) in Mauritania and the Department of Forecasting and Statistics (Direction de la Prévision et de la Statistique) (DPS) in Senegal. These bodies are mainly responsible for:

- carrying out general population censuses and national demographic and socioeconomic surveys;
- the design of methodologies for the collection and processing of data through censuses and surveys;
- the exploitation and analysis of data obtained through these data collection projects;
- the coordination and dissemination of official statistics on the population.

a) Immigration services

Each individual country has ministerial departments responsible for issuing travel and residence documents: entry visas, residence permits etc. These are as follows: Study and Planning Department of the Ministry of the Interior and Security (*Direction des études et de la planification*) in Burkina Faso, the Departement of Migration and Borders (*Direction des migrations et des frontières*) in Cape Verde; the Immigration Department of the Gambia, the Directorate for the Police services (*Direction des services de police*) of the Ministry of Interior Security and Civil Protection in Mali, the Department of Territory Control (*Direction de la surveillance du territoire*) in Mauritania and the Department of Borders Control (*Direction de la police des frontières*) of the Ministry of Interior in Senegal. These structures encompass the border police authorities and the departments which deal with foreigners. More specifically, these institutions collect information on:

- entries and exits into/out of the national territory by means of embarkation/disembarkation cards at points of entry in airports and ports and notifications provided by the land border police;
- issue of residence permits for foreign residents.

b) Institutions responsible for expatriate nationals

These consist of the Department of Surveys and Planning (Direction des études et de la planification) of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs (Burkina Faso), the Institute of Communities (Institut des Communautés) (Cape Verde), the Office for the Expatriate Quota and Naturalisation (The Gambia), the Delegation of Malians Abroad (Délégation des Maliens de l'extérieur) of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Cooperation (Mauritania) and the Department of Senegalese Abraod (Senegal). These public institutions are responsible for the management of their expatriate nationals. They are responsible for:

- collecting information on emigrants, particularly based on the registration forms provided by the diplomatic and/or consular authorities located abroad;
- the renewal of passports and national identity cards for compatriots living abroad.

4.2 Competences of the structures producing statistics

a) Centralized organisms specializing in data collection

These are usually efficient structures in terms of the collection, processing and analysis of statistical data, particularly concerning migration. They provide relatively well designed descriptive statistics on the population in general and on migration in particular. In addition, such institutions have the appropriate computer services as well as staff who are trained in the techniques of statistical design.

Most of the statistics currently available are supplied through national descriptive reports based on the censuses and national surveys which have been carried out. As regards international migration, the information which is available covers notably:

- immigrants, broken down by age, gender, marital status, level of education, country of origin, type of employment, employment status, employment sector, residential environment, region etc. (national censuses and surveys);
- foreign nationals by country of origin, age, gender, marital status, level of education, type of employment, employment status, employment sector, residential environment, region etc. (national censuses and surveys);
- returning international migrants by point of departure, age, gender, marital status, level of education, country of origin, type of employment, employment status, employment sector, residential environment, region etc. (national censuses and surveys);
- recent emigrants (last 5 years or within a year prior to collection of the data) by country of destination; age on departure, reason for migrating (special surveys on migration and certain censuses);
- migration maps by region or foreign country (special migration surveys);
- emigration and immigration rates, net migration rates (special migration surveys).
- comparative indicators of migration density (specific surveys on migration).

b) Immigration authorities and the institutions responsible for expatriate nationals

These institutions and departments provide information on international migration based on entry and exit cards into/out of national territory and the issue of residence permits for foreigners in the case of the immigration authorities, and based on emigrants' registration files in the case of the institutions responsible for expatriate nationals.

4.3 Constraints affecting data suppliers

a) Centralized bodies specializing in data collection

A general observation based on analysis of the statistics supplied by the specialized bodies is that the data collected have not been thoroughly analysed. The reports which are currently available consist of descriptive analyses based on the simple comparison of migration variables with the socio-demographic characteristics of individuals, although the censuses and in particular the national surveys on migration offer several possible angles of approach for a detailed analysis of migratory movements. This failure to exploit and utilize the available sources more thoroughly restricts the opportunities for widespread dissemination of the data.

b) Immigration authorities and the institutions responsible for expatriate nationals

The data collected are not sufficiently exploited for statistical purposes. The organisms responsible for the management of the information do not have the necessary skills to exploit and analyse quantitative data, neither do they have the financial resources required for computerized recording, processing and analysis of the data collected. There are therefore not in a position to provide refined statistics for potential users and decision-makers.

5. Discrepancies and weaknesses in the current information system

In spite of the relatively high potential of the data sources, the current information system on international migration in West Africa suffers from numerous weaknesses which combine to pose a general problem as regards the reliability of the data collected, their representativity, their coherence, their comparability and their accessibility.

5.1 Reliability of the sources of statistical information on migration

The biggest gap as regards migration in general and international migration in particular, remains the absence of sufficiently up-to-date and reliable information, at the level of both the administrative authorities and the specialized centralized bodies.

a) The administrative authorities dealing with immigration and with the management of expatriate nationals

We would like to make a few general remarks concerning the reliability of administrative sources. The data drawn from the registration records completed by citizens for the diplomatic and/or consular authorities located abroad are subject to two limitations:

- The collection of information (not all of a country's citizens register; the diplomatic and/or consular authorities are not usually informed in the event of the decease or departure from the host country of registered individuals.
- The consulates forward their registration records only at irregular intervals, or not at all.

Information on border statistics is not computerized. The embarkation and disembarkation cards handed in at airports and seaports are usually stored without being archived or exploited, although they constitute a mine of information on the volume, direction and reasons for travel as well as on the socio-demographic characteristics of the individuals concerned.

b) Centralized bodies specializing in the collection of data (censuses, national surveys)

Censuses

It is widely recognized that the main aim of a general population census, particularly in the countries of the Southern Hemisphere, is not to provide sophisticated measurements and a detailed analysis of migration. Its geographical boundaries, since it provides information only on individuals who are present or resident on the national territory at the time the information is collected, enable it to measure both the resident foreign population and internal migration fairly accurately. There is a series of obstacles to description of migratory flows leaving the country, which are related at one and the same time to the definition of the phenomenon and to its measurement. Theoretically, and with a few notable exceptions, censuses do not provide information on the stocks and flows of international emigrants¹⁸. Nevertheless, in the absence of more specific studies they remain one of the major sources of information on the immigrant and foreign populations in Sub-Saharan Africa in spite of three major criticisms which can be levelled against them.

¹⁸ Certain censuses in some West African countries have collected information on emigrant populations (Burkina Faso, Cape Verde, Mauritania and more recently, Senegal).

27

In the first place, a national population census provides information only on those persons present or resident on the national territory at the time of collection. Information is not usually included on people born in the country who are resident abroad. This means that the census alone cannot usually provide the information required to assess either the stock or the flow of international emigrants.

In the second place, the immigrant population which is targeted is extremely heterogeneous, if only in terms of length of residence. This means that only information on immigrant stocks can be provided, little or no information is available concerning immigration flow, except in some cases the previous place of residence.

The length of the period of reference, which is sometimes considerable, constitutes a further problem, that of over-simplification of a migrant's itinerary. The temptation when comparing the place of birth with the place of residence based on a census is to reduce migratory movement to just that one ¹⁹. However, thanks to the reconstitution of migratory biographies, we know that the itinerary is often complicated, comprising numerous stages, and that it may conclude with a move back to a region which is sometimes the place of birth. Seen in this light, the definition of a migrant based on his/her place of birth may "linearize" a complex migratory itinerary to the exclusion all those who have moved in their lifetimes and then returned to live in their country of birth.

The Senegalese migratory biographies which were collected in the course of the Migration and Urbanization Survey (EMUS) carried out in Senegal in 1993; provide an illustration of these statistical weaknesses. The transformation of this biographical data into several fictitious censuses made it possible to measure, at least partly, the risks of omission and "linearization". Thus transformed, the biographical data gave the places of residence in 1983 and in 1988 for Senegalese citizens born in the country, aged 15 and over, resident in Senegal in 1993. The fictitious censuses showed that 236 204 Senegalese had lived abroad at least once in the course of their lives; however, 153,433 of them, i.e. 65%, would have been classified as sedentary based on the usual information obtained from a census carried out in 1988 which included information on the place of residence in 1983. This situation is similar to that of the 1988 census in Senegal and illustrates the possible margin of error. The risk of "linearization" is equally serious; the transformed EMUS data indicated that more than 20% of the 136,002 foreign individuals born abroad and aged 15 and over who were living in Senegal in 1993 had lived abroad, i.e. they had moved at least once more than the single international move suggested by their place of residence in 1983.

Last but not least, there are those immigrants who deliberately avoid being included in a census. International migrants, probably more than any other individuals, are affected by under-declaration in censuses. Irregular²⁰ and even "legal" immigrants tend to suspect the involvement of the police in an operation. The case of Senegalese nationals living in Mauritania provides a good example of this. The Mauritanian census carried out in 1988 indicated that there were then 17 624 Senegalese resident in Mauritania; however, more than 65 000 left the country at the time of the Senegal-Mauritanian conflict (1989), according to

^{19 &}quot;Life-long" migration, although a category which is widely used, remains one of the least well-defined.
20 The term "irregular" is preferred to that of "clandestine", insofar as the DEDEAO agreements permit the free circulation of individuals throughout West Africa. However, national migration policies sometimes put the migrant in an irregular situation, particularly in terms of employment legislation.

official Senegalese figures. Data collected by the EMUS survey indicated that 63% of foreigners born abroad declared that they were of Senegalese nationality. This figure rose to 88% for those born in the Gambia and 74% for those born in Guinea-Bissau. Even if this situation can partly be explained through naturalisation or the birth of Senegalese children abroad, these proportions seem too high to be credible. This behaviour is probably even more flagrant among refugees and displaced persons, and migratory policies introduced in several West African countries (Ivory Coast, Nigeria, Ghana ...) have certainly reinforced this tendency to dissimulate.

Furthermore, in certain analyses the definition of international migration does not eve refer to crossing a border, but depends exclusively on the nationality declared at the time of the census. In spite of the fairly frequent use of this definition in African censuses, this is clearly bad practice, because foreign nationals will not necessarily have undertaken international migration. Naturalisation often remains the exception in Africa, and it is not unusual for someone who was born in the country where he or she is living, and has therefore not migrated in any way, to retain his or her foreign nationality. The counting of international migrants based on nationality also poses a problem in the case of those who have more than one nationality. For all these reasons it is preferable to exclude nationality in measuring international migration, whenever possible.

All the figures drawn from censuses confirm the large volume of migratory movements in sub-Saharan Africa in general and in West Africa in particular. These estimates, although frequently based on census data, are more often validated by repeated use that by the rigour of the calculations which produce them. Apart from a few general considerations, the correction of census data is not based on explicit scientific methods and analysis. Thus, it is widely accepted that there were approximately 35 to 45 million international migrants and refugees from Sub-Saharan Africa in the late eighties, (Ricca, 1990; Russell et al., 1990; Stalker, 1995). Just as a reminder, there were an estimated 80 million international migrants and refugees throughout the world at that time. Today's estimates give a figure of approximately 150 million (OIM, UN, 2000). The figures for Sub-Saharan Africa are based on census data from the seventies, corrected to take into account an estimated under-declaration of more than 50% for international immigrants and 100% for refugees (Stalker, 1995). However, the origin of these under-recording rates is never clearly stated.

These few remarks are sufficient to highlight one of the paradoxes that appears throughout the scientific literature; West Africa is rightly considered to be one of the areas in the world which is most affected by international labour migration; but it is also one where this major phenomenon has been least accurately measured.

National surveys

These surveys, particularly when they concentrate mainly on migration, provide better opportunities for analysis than even the most sophisticated of censuses. These surveys, however, no matter how rich they may be in information, sometimes have a serious limitation for the study of international migration.

Basically a survey, when international migration is not its main subject, is based on a sample plan which may be unsuitable for the evaluation of this phenomenon. International migration is not a demographic factor which is evenly distributed throughout the national territory. Quite the contrary, it may be affected by clustering to a greater or lesser degree. Furthermore, it is almost

always a rare phenomenon, in the statistical meaning of the term. These considerations may lead to fears of significant sampling errors, particularly if a "classical" plan - i.e. a non-stratified migration criterion - is used.

5.2 Representativity of the data collected on migrants

The immigration authorities and those responsible for the management of expatriate nationals have a relatively low coverage rate of the target population. In most countries in the West African region, migrants are directly registered only if they cross the border at air- and seaports. This source, although it provides information on both entries (immigrants) and departures (emigrants), is fairly incomplete because of the permeability and high number of entries and exists by terrestrial routes. Furthermore, the issue of identity cards concerns only a fraction of the population, usually those located in urban areas and the modern sector. Furthermore, work and residence permits do not take into account unauthorised immigrants, who account for the majority of the foreign population of African origin.

The data collected by the diplomatic and/or consular authorities are not representative of the emigrant population abroad, either. They include only those persons who register, leaving out a majority of migrants (particularly those in an irregular situation who are probably the most numerous).

The information obtained from censuses does not usually target all categories of migrants. Those projects which have tried to measure international emigration have concentrated mainly on recent migrants (those who have left during the preceding five-year period) as was the case in 2000 in Cape Verde and in 2002 in Senegal. They are far from reflecting the reality of migrations abroad. In addition, they remain fairly limited in terms of the information on emigrants which is provided (age, gender, country of destination and reason for migration) and they rarely include variables concerning the employment of migrants in the foreign country.

5.3 Coherence of data on migration

It is worth noting that there is no consensus on the definition of migration; each country has its own criteria, which are not necessarily the same as those of other countries. In this respect, the various sources of statistical data on migration listed for the countries under review indicate that there are several reference periods in the definition of the concepts:

- five or ten years for the definition of previous place of residence;
- a period of residence of six months, three months or one year for the definition of migrant.

In Burkina Faso for example, not all the data collection operations adopted the same definition of migrant. The multi-survey study carried out in 1972 by ORSTOM considered "any individual absent for a period of at least 6 months" as a migrant, while a figure of 3 months was used for the surveys carried out in 73-74 and 1960-61. All the other data collection operations, particularly those carried out after 1975²¹, chose to use a period of 6 months.

²¹ This concerns the two censuses included in the 1991 and 1993 surveys carried out by the INSD and by REMUAO, respectively.

Reference periods of twelve, six and three months are all relative and depend on the object of measurement. It is true that if the data collected includes the date of changes in residence, all movements can be included. However, this presents problems in practice. It is therefore essential to harmonise the definitions used in order to reach a joint understanding of the phenomenon and to obtain comparable data at the national and regional levels.

5.4 Regularity and consistence of data on migrants

The statistical systems on migration in the countries under review in this study suffer from the irregularity of data collection, caused by the lack of a permanent system for the collection, processing and analysis of the data. Most of the information available on migration is produced through surveys and censuses, i.e. through one-off operations. The long periods not only between data collection operations, but also between the collection of data and the publication of the results, mean that major changes can occur in the dynamics of migration in between times. Ten years usually separate national censuses, for example, and special surveys on migration are not carried out at regular intervals at all. To provide further examples, the results of the most recent census in Senegal, carried out in 2002, are not yet available; the last census carried out in Mali in 1998 has not yet been officially published, at least as regards the data on migration.

Furthermore, a great deal of information on international migration, particularly on migrant employment issues, is lacking because of the failure to take into account or quite simply to analyse several variables related to migrant labour.

Generally speaking, existing statistics are not sufficiently used for the study and management of migration, particularly in terms of migration policies.

5.5 Comparability of statistics on migrants

Data users are commonly interested in two types of comparison: diachronic comparison (with other data collection operations carried out previously on the same territory) and synchronic comparison (with data collection operations carried out in other countries at similar dates). The comparison of data, however, raises a number of methodological issues.

In order to compare data from several different sources, the fields of operation of the data collection must be identical (same observation scale), and the subjects tackled must use the same definition and selection criteria. In this respect, the geographical units often vary from one country to another, as well as from one date to another within the same country.

In Burkina Faso, for example, the different data collection operations did not adopt the same geographical boundaries beyond which a displacement was considered as migration. The modification of the administrative boundaries which was implemented after 1975 complicated the situation even more. The Burkinabe national report noted that it was difficult to work out the correspondence between the previous and the new administrative divisions. The study of the chronological evolution of migratory flows frequently turns out to be a perilous task in these circumstances, and one which yields poor results.

As regards the study of international migration, neighbouring countries (or the same subregional group) which are subject to major migratory flows would benefit from collecting the same type of data, if possible in the same year. The collection of census data during the same period of reference would undoubtedly be highly useful for a better understanding of international migration. For Mali and Senegal for example it is difficult, even though information is available, to provide a reliable estimate of migratory trends based on census figures collected four years apart (1998 in Mali and 2002 in Senegal).

Care must also be taken in the way in which results are presented (in the form of gross or net figures), the types of migration taken into account, etc. which may perturb comparative analysis. As an example, the tabulation of foreigners in the course of a national census in a given country may fail to isolate the residents of another country although the census carried out in the latter may have permitted the identification of citizens of the former.

5.6 Accessibility of information on migrants

The manner in which the results of a data collection operation are presented is important in making the best use of a source of statistical information. It justifies all the previous stages and enables the tasks involved in national and/or regional planning to be carried out. However, the results of census and survey operations in the countries of the sub-region are published in the form of national descriptive reports which supply little information on international migration. Many migration variables are left out, and further investigation is often required to access this data. A great deal of pertinent information on labour issues is simply omitted, for instance, in spite of its overriding importance for international migration.

Furthermore, the results of these operations are published a long time after the data is collected, because of the long period which separates the field research and the analysis of the data. Thus, the published results often fail to reflect the current realities of migration, especially since international migration changes enormously from one period to another.

6. Coordination and utilisation of data in decision-making

This refers to the nature of the links between the producers and the users of migration statistics. The emphasis will be on the lack of concordance between the capacities, the methods and the form of dissemination of those supplying the statistics, with the needs of user institutions and decision-makers, particularly in relation to the definition and formulation of migration policies.

6.1 Old, partial and patchy data

The critical analysis of sources of migration data in the six countries has led to the conclusion that the creation and publication of migration statistics is mainly in the hands of national statistics departments. Little data is available elsewhere, mainly because of the absence of other structures for the supply of data, and of appropriate technical services for its recording, exploitation and analysis. As we have already underlined, the current state of the collection system indicates that the administrative records are insufficient to provide very sophisticated statistics on migrants. Certain sources are not exploited or are insufficiently exploited. The national statistics institutes do not carry out collection operations with any regularity and do not often take into account all aspects of the migration phenomenon. In addition, the information obtained from these collection operations is not up-to-date, which means that the information

available is often old. Generally speaking, the information which is available on international migration is insufficient, scarce, unreliable and subject to problems of comparability.

6.2 Lack of exchanges and structures for concertation between the suppliers and users of data

There are no regular discussions between the suppliers and users of migration data, and those that exist are often organized for a special purpose, generally in order to define the main outlines of population policies; they do not provide incitement for any real interest in migration statistics. In this context, political considerations on migration are not taken systematically into account. Globally, there is no sustained network of consultation between decision-makers and data suppliers, which means that the information supplied by the producing structures is not often well-adapted to the needs of decision-making.

However, taking into account the rapid changes which occur in the migration sector, and because of the economic and social implications of this phenomenon, special attention needs to be paid to migration issues not only within the context of national planning, but also in terms of a process of regional integration.

Certain organisms (both suppliers and users), may be called upon to produce (or utilise) migration data from time to time to meet their own planning needs. However, this eventuality is reduced, because of the additional cost involved in a search for more detailed data.

7. Conclusion

The numerous surveys carried out on the West African populations reveal that the latter are highly mobile both within the countries of the sub-region and towards other countries in Africa as well as certain European countries. However, this observation is rarely based on rigorous methods of assessment of the phenomenon – the existing sources of information often give only a partial and approximate measure and a description which is simplified and out of date.

Analysis of the administrative sources shows that they can constitute an important network for the collection and transmission of information on international migration. However, certain elements need to be established while others must be updated if they are to form part of a reliable system of statistical information able to provide the governments of the countries concerned with effective tools for the management of their citizens living abroad, as well as of foreign residents. However, the structures which supply this type of data do not have the specialized technical capacities required to process migration statistics. In the final analysis, although they contain information on nearly all categories of migrants these sources are rarely consulted. The censuses and surveys therefore remain the only source of reference data on international migration.

In spite of the existence of a certain number of surveys specifically designed for the analysis of migration CVRS/INDS, 1975; CERPOD, 1993; UERD, 2000), the data available on West African international migration comes first and foremost from national censuses. Although the population surveys have the advantage of being carried out on a national scale, they

provide little information on individual mobility²², this information enabling the observation of the phenomenon only at widely separated intervals. The migratory process cannot, therefore, be subject to analysis (Amassari, 2003). The census data obtained in the eighties and nineties has not been analysed in detail in any of the national reports²³. Neither is there any current regional synthesis of the kind produced by Wachariah and de Condé (1981) and more recently by Bocquier and Traoré (1998), the data being generally unavailable or difficult to access.

The demographic synthesis published by the OECD (Zachariah and Condé, 1981) and the World Bank (Russell, Jacobsen and Stanley, 1990) proposed the first statistical table on population movements in the sub-region, based mainly on census data obtained in the 1970s ²⁴. Right up to the most recent surveys (REMUAO, 1993), all the contemporary analyses of international migration in West Africa were based on these census estimates produced in the 1970s and 1980s. The work of Makinwa-Adebusoye (1992), of Russell (1993), of Adepoju (1988) and of Stalker (1995) are without doubt eloquent illustrations of this continuous use of now outdated statistics. The relatively recent surveys carried out by the Réseau Migrations et Urbanisation en Afrique de l'Ouest (West African Migration and Urbanisation Network) (REMUAO) carried out and analysed in seven of the sixteen countries of the sub-region²⁵, have helped to fill the gaps. However, this data is also becoming increasingly out-of-date, since the surveys date back to 1993. Finally, because of their age and excessive use, the official statistics provide an image of international migration which is static, focusing on a bygone age.

Nevertheless and in spite of the long-term nature of certain migratory flows in West Africa, there is reason to suppose that the recent social and economic changes which have hit the West African countries (e.g. the petrol crisis in Nigeria, the economic crisis which affected the West African countries in the 1980s, the adoption of programmes of structural adjustment; the devaluation of the CFA franc) have disturbed – or at least modified – the migratory map of the region whether in terms of the volume or destination of migratory movements. In addition, these flows are highly sensitive to the political situation (e.g., the conflict between Mauritania and Senegal in 1989, civil war in Liberia; the political unrest in Sierra Leone and more recently the political crisis in the Ivory Coast). This is a reality which is both fluid and fragile, and which is part of an unstable world dynamic. For all these reasons, the updating of statistical information on international migration in West Africa seems a necessary pre-requisite for any later more detailed study.

In spite of the weaknesses of the sources, some information is available on migratory systems and movements in West Africa. The African censuses carried out in the period 1980-1990 and recent studies on migration and scientific literature, reveal the presence of major international migratory flows. These movements are above all cross-frontier and sub-regional movements,

²² Usually, general population censuses make it possible to obtain information concerning migration by comparing information on the place of birth and the place of residence of individuals at the time of the census, or by comparing information on the place of residence at the time of the census with the place of residence 5 years previously.

23 The exception is the report on the Ivory Coast (Republic of the Ivory Coast, 1992).

²⁴ See Condé J. and K.C. Zachariah (1981), "Migration in West Africa. Demographic Aspects", Oxford University Press, World Bank Staff working papers n°414 and 415 and Russell, S.S., K. Jacobsen and W.D. Stanley (1990), "International Migrations and Development in Sub-Saharan Africa", World Bank discussion papers n°101 and 102.

²⁵ The REMUAO surveys were carried out in Burkina Faso, the Ivory Coast, Mali, Mauritania, Nigeria, Niger and Senegal. The data concerning Nigeria have been excluded from the analyses because they were collected using different methodology to that used in the other countries.

even though the migratory flows towards other regions of Sub-Saharan Africa and towards Europe play a part that is far from insignificant.

In spite of the relatively high potential of the sources of data, existing statistics are not sufficiently well-exploited as regards the study and management of migration, above all in the context of migration policies. No major disposition has yet been taken to improve our knowledge of the migration phenomenon, although this concern is seen as a real one by the West African governments. There are no appropriate structures for the follow-up and coordination of the activities involved in the production, publication and dissemination of statistical data on migration. Cooperation and partnerships between the institutions involved in migration issues remain limited.

The problem of the comparability of data is also a real one in the countries of the sub-region insofar as the institutions which supply the statistics use different methodologies for the collection of data, and sometimes different concepts for the definition of migration. This highlights the need for agreement on concepts and harmonization of methodology as regards the conception of the questions, the sampling methods used and the presentation of the results. The simultaneous implementation of censuses in the countries of the sub-region would enable more comparison between the countries, as regards the number of immigrants and emigrants.

8. Recommendations

Improvements in the data collection system must be based on the following recommendations:

8.1 Recommendations for taking migration issues into account at the national level

- Promote the creation of a gender disaggregated migration database for the compilation of existing sources of information and the implementation of research aimed specifically at migrants, both men and women;
- Set up a permanent Observatory and an information system on international migration. This observatory could be split up into sectoral observatories in order to respond to the needs of the establishments producing/using the data;
- Establish concrete national mechanisms for the systematic registration of national citizens living abroad by the diplomatic and/or consular authorities in order to obtain data on their numbers:
- Establish a national body responsible for coordinating the collection of data on migration of different origins and the establishment of a focal point for information on all aspects of migration;
- Provide technical and financial support to reinforce the competences of the structures which supply data on international migration (acquisition of the appropriate equipment, training on issues related to migration statistics and on the processing and analysis of data);

- Development of comparative analyses between the different sources of data, in order to improve the quality of the information that they provide and to underline their complementarity;
- Establishment of functional structural links between the various structures involved in migration issues (central administration; public and semi-public sectors, social partners);
- Organization of regular meetings between users and producers of statistics on migration in order to ensure a better fit between the needs of users and the capacities of those producing the data;
- Implementation of a system of "light" studies on migration and definition of indicators for the follow-up and evaluation of the evolution of migratory movements.

8.2. Recommendations on the integration of the migration variable in regional cooperation between West African countries

- Elaboration of joint guidelines on domestic and international migration for the countries of the West African region;
- Harmonize criteria for the identification of migrants, both national and foreign, emigrants and immigrants, as well as criteria for the definition of international migration in order to comply with United Nations recommendations;
- Use identical variables to describe the various aspects of the migration phenomenon, defining, by joint agreement between the countries of the region, the information to be collected and adopting the same methods for the collection of data in order to study domestic and international migration among the West African populations;
- Based on existing data, adopt common criteria for the tabulation and statistical analysis of international migratory movements based on the United Nations recommendations;
- Promote clearly defined cooperation between the countries of the West African region in order to improve the quality of statistical measures of migration between these countries as regards the migratory exchanges affecting them;
- Provide the national institutions producing statistics with better recommendations on how best to improve international migration statistics, through the production of relatively simple forms for a permanently on-going system of collection on population movements at the national borders;
- Establishment of a sub-regional Observatory on international migration.
- Promote the introduction of a network for the exchange of bibliographic, legal, statutory and statistical information between West African states;

- Develop a sub-regional network of statisticians responsible for migration statistics in order to share their knowledge and experiences concerning the conception, exploitation and analysis of statistical data on international migratory movements;
- Set up a network of sub-regional and regional institutions involved in issues connected with statistics on international migration, employment and poverty such as the ILO, UEMOA, ECOWAS, research centres, etc.
- Promote cooperation between sub-regions (Maghreb and West Africa) and North-South cooperation on migration statistics.

Bibliography on West African migration

- Ancey G. (1983), Monnaie et structure d'exploitation en pays Mossi, Ouagadougou, Paris, ORSTOM, 240p.
- Adepoju, A. (1988), « International Migration in Africa South of the Sahara », in ed. R.T. Appleyard, International Migration Today, UNESCO, University of Western Australia, pp.17-88.
- -. (1990), « State of the Art : Review of migration in Africa », Commissioned Papers : Conference on The Role of migration in africain development: issues and policies for the 90's, Union pour l'étude de la population africaine/Union for african population studies (UEPA/UAPS), pp. 3-41.
- -. (1994), "Population Migration Dynamics in Sub-Saharan Africa", *International Migration*, n°1, pp. 197-215.
- (1995), « Migration in Africa: An overview », in eds J. Baker et T. A. Aina The Migration Experience in Africa, Nordiska Afrikainstitutet, Suède, pp.87-353.
- Adepoju, A. et OUCHO, J. (1995), International Migration, Human Resources Utilization and Regional Development in Sub-Saharan Africa, UEPA, policy paper n°1, 56p.
- Amin S. (1974), « Les migrations contemporaines en Afrique de l'Ouest », Amin Samir et Forde Daryll (eds), Les migrations en Afrique de l'Ouest/Modern Migrations in Western Africa, London, IAI & Oxford Univ. Press, pp.3-64.
- Amselle, J-L. (1976), (éd.), Les migrations africaines, Paris, Maspero, Paris, Maspero, 126p.
- Andrade, S.L. (1973), Les îles du Cap-Vert : de l'esclavage à l'émigration spontanée. Les migrations cap-verdiennes à Dakar, Nations Unies-IDEP (éd), Dakar, 243p.
- Bâ C.O. (1995), « Un exemple d'essoufflement de l'immigration sénégalaise : les Sénégalais de Cameroun », *Monde en développement*, Tome23, n°91, pp.31-44.
- -. (1996), « Migrants sénégalais en Afrique Centrale entre intégration et rejet », Colloque Systèmes et dynamiques des migrations internationales ouest-africaines, Dakar, Sénégal, 3-6 décembre.
- Babou C. (2002), «Brotherhood Solidarity, Education and Migration: the Role of the Dahiras among the Murid Muslim Community of New York », *African Affairs* 101: 151-170
- Baldé M.S. (1976), « Un cas typique de migration interafricaine : l'immigration des Guinéens au Sénégal », Amselle, J-L. (éd), *Les migrations africaines*, Paris, Maspero, pp.63-98.
- Barbary O. (1994), « Dakar et la Sénégambie : évolution d'un espace migratoire transnational », M-C Diop, *Le Sénégal et ses voisins*, Série Sociétés-Espace-Temps, pp.142-163.
- Bava S. (2002), « Entre Marseille et Touba : le mouride migrant et la société rurale », M-C Diop, *La société sénégalaise. Entre le local et le global*, Khartala, pp.579-598.
- Becker Ch. (1994), « Proposition pour une histoire des migrations internationales

- sénégambiennes », M-C. Diop, Le Sénégal et ses voisins, Série Sociétés-Espace-Temps, pp.258-292.
- Benoit, D., P. Levi, J.Papail Et F. Sodter (1981), Enquête démographique en pays Lobi Dagara (Haute-Volta 1976), ORSTOM, Section de démographie, document de travail n°13, 98 p.
- Benoit, D., P. Levi, M.Pilon, (1986), Caractéristiques des migrants et de la nuptialité en pays Lobi Dagara (Haute-Volta - 1976), éditions ORSTOM, collection Etudes et Thèses, Paris, 161 p.
- Biaye, Mady (1995). Análise Sumária da Situação Demográfica em Cabo Verde. Direcção Geral do Planeamento, Unidade da População e dos Recursos Humanos, Praia.
- Bilsborrow R.E., Hugo G. Oberai, A.S, Zlotnik H., (1997), "International Migration Statistics; Guidelines for Improving Data Collection Systems", International Labor Office, Geneva.
- Bocquier P. et Traoré S. (1996), « Les nouvelles tendances des migrations internationales d'après les Enquêtes du Réseau Migrations et Urbanisation en Afrique de l'Ouest », Colloque Systèmes et dynamiques des migrations internationales ouest-africaines, Dakar, 3-6 décembre.
- -. (1996), « Mérites et limites des Enquêtes du Réseau Migrations et Urbanisation en Afrique de l'Ouest pour la mesure des migrations internationales », Colloque Systèmes et dynamiques des migrations internationales ouest-africaines, Dakar, 3-6 décembre.
- Bouillon A. (1996), « La nouvelle migration africaine en Afrique du Sud. Immigrants d'Afrique occidentale et centrale à Joannesburg », *Colloque Systèmes et dynamiques des migrations internationales ouest-africaines*, Dakar, Sénégal, 3-6 décembre.
- Bredeloup S. (1993), « Les migrants du fleuve Sénégal : à quand la Diams'pora », Revue Européenne des Migrations Internationales, Vol. 9, n° 3, pp.205-231.
- -. (1995), « Expulsion des ressortissants ouest-africains au sein du continent africain », *Monde en développement*, Tome 23, n° 91, pp.117-121.
- Brou K. et Charbit Y. (1994) « La politique migratoire de la Côte d'Ivoire », *Revue Européenne des Migrations internationales*, vol. 10, n° 3, pp.33-60.
- Bureau National du Recensement (1971), Enquête Démographique Nationale, 1970-71: Résultats provisoires du premier passage, Dakar.
- -. (1982), Recensement Général de la population d'avril 1976 : Analyse des résultats nationaux, Dakar.
- Caldwell J.C. (1973), Croissance démographique et évolution socio-économique en Afrique de l'Ouest, New York, Population Council.
- Capron, J. et Kohler J.-M (1975), « Environnement sociologique des migrations agricoles », dans *Enquêtes sur les mouvements de population à partir du pays Mossi (Haute-Volta) : les migrations internes*, tome 1, fasc. 2, O.R.S.T.O.M., pp. 213-330.
- Capron, J. et Kohler J.-M (1976), « De quelques caractéristiques de la pratique matrimoniale mossi contemporaine » in *Mariage fécondité et rôle des parents en Afrique de l'Ouest, Actes du colloque sur l'évolution de la famille africaine*, Lomé 1976. Ed. C.Oppong et al.

- Cellule Technique du Codéveloppement du Ministère de l'Economie et des Finances, (2003), Note de Communication sur les Politiques d'Insertion et de Réinsertion des Maliens de l'Extérieur.
- (2003), Communication sur la Mobilisation des fonds des Maliens de l'Extérieur pour le financement du développement.
- CEPED (1994), « La démographie de 30 états d'Afrique et de l'Océan indien » eds du Ceped, 351p.
- CERPOD CILSS (1995), Migration et Urbanisation en Afrique de l'Ouest (MUAO) : Résultats définitifs.
- CERPOD (1992/93), Enquête migration dans la vallée du fleuve Sénégal 1982/83
- Chesnais J.C. (1986), La transition démographique. Étapes, formes, implications économiques, Travaux et Documents, Cahier n° 113, INED, PUF, 580p.
- Coleman J.S. (1988), « Social capital in the creation oh human capital », *American Journal of Sociology*, vol.94 (supplement), pp. S95-S120.
- Colloque Systèmes et dynamiques des migrations internationales ouest-africaines, Dakar, Sénégal, 3-6 décembre 1996.
- Condé J. and Zachariah K.C. (1978), Aperçu des migrations en Afrique de l'Ouest, OECD/OCDE, Paris, 45p.
- Condé J. et Diagne P.S. (1986), Les migrations internationales sud-nord. Une étude de cas : les migrants maliens, mauritaniens et sénégalais de la vallée du fleuve Sénégal, en France, OCDE, Paris, 154p.
- Cordell D., Gregory J. et Piché V. (1996), *Houe and Wage. A social History of Circular Migration System in West Africa*, Westview Press, Colorado, United Kingdom, 384 p.
- Coulibaly et Gregory J. Et Piché V. (1975), « Enquête sur les mouvements migratoires en Haute-Volta: Objectifs, hypothèses et collecte », *Population et famille*, n°34, pp. 55-65.
- Coulibaly S. (1978), Les migrations voltaïques : les origines, les motifs et les perceptions des politiques, thèse de doctorat, collection thèses et mémoires sur le Sahel, Université de Montréal, 370 p.
- Coulibaly S. et Vaugelade J. (1981) Impact de la sécheresse de 1969-1974 sur les migrations en Haute Volta, communication au congrès général de Manille 9-16 décembre 1981, UIESP, 12 p.
- Coulibaly, S. (1986), « Colonialisme et migration en Haute Volta (1896-1946) », dans Gauvreau D. et al. (éd.), *Démographie et sous-développement dans le Tiers-Monde*, McGill University, pp. 73-110.
- Coulibaly et Gregory J. Et Piché V. (1980a), « Vers une explication des courants migratoires voltaïques », *Labour, Capital and Society/Travail, Capital et société*, vol. 13, n°1, pp. 77-104.
- Coulibaly et Gregory J. Et Piché V. (1980b), Les migrations voltaïques. Tome I: Importance et ambivalence de la migration voltaïque, CRDI, CVRS, INSD, Ottawa, Ouagadougou, 114 p.
- Coulibaly et Gregory J. Et Piché V. (1980c), Les migrations voltaïques. Tome II: Méthodologie, CRDI, CVRS, INSD, Ottawa, Ouagadougou, 159 p.

- Coulibaly et Gregory J. Et Piché V. (1980d), Les migrations voltaïques. Tome III: Mesure de la migration 1969-1978, CRDI, CVRS, INSD, Ottawa, Ouagadougou, 64 p.
- Coulibaly et Gregory J. Et Piché V. (1980e), Les migrations voltaïques. Tome IV: Caractéristiques des migrants et des non migrants, CRDI, CVRS, INSD, Ottawa, Ouagadougou, 111 p.
- Coulibaly S., (1980), Les migrations voltaïques. Importance et ambivalence de la migration *voltaïque*, Ottawa, Ont., CRDI, Tome I, 144p.
- Deniel, R. (1968), De la savane à la ville, essai sur les migrations des Mossi vers Abidjan et sa Région, collection des travaux du CASHA, 185 p.
- Dakam-Ngatchou R. (1996), « Les migrations dans les recensements africains : une source à revisiter », *Colloque Systèmes et dynamiques des migrations internationales ouest-africaines*, Dakar, 3-6 décembre.
- Daum C. (1995), Les migrants, partenaires de la coopération internationale : Le cas des Maliens de France , «Migrations internationales et développement», document technique No. 107.
- Daum C. et alii. (1992), L'immigration ouest-africaine en France : une dynamique nouvelle dans la vallée du fleuve Sénégal. Rapport final de l'étude « Migrants et développement ». Paris, Institut Panos, 138p.
- Delaunay D. (1984), De la captivité à l'exil. Histoire et démographie des migrations paysannes dans la moyenne vallée du fleuve Sénégal, ORSTOM, Paris, 217p.
- Diallo I.P. (1973), Les migrations transfrontalières entre le Sénégal et la Gambie, Dakar, Nations-Unis/IDEP, multigr.
- Diop A.M. (1982), « La diaspora manjak en France. Relations avec le milieu d'origine », *Notes Africaines*, n° 176, pp.103-109.
- Direction de la Prévision et de la Statistique (1993), Recensement Général de la Population et de l'Habitat de 1988 : Rapport national (résultats définitifs), Dakar.
- -. (1998), Enquête sur les Migrations et l'Urbanisation (EMUS). 1992-1993. Rapport national descriptif, CERPOD, 123p.
- Direcção Geral de Estatística (1992). Censos 90 2° Recenseamento Geral da População e Habitação. Divisão de Estatísticas Demográficas e Sociais, Praia.
- Direcção Geral de Estatística (1993). Embarque/Desembarque Ano 92/1° Semestre 93 Sal/Praia. Divisão de Estatísticas Demográficas e Sociais, Praia.
- Direcção Geral de Estatística (1994). Embarque/Desembarque Sal e Praia Folha de Informação Rápida Resumo Anual 1993. Divisão de Estatísticas Demográficas e Sociais, Praia.
- Direcção Geral de Estatística (1994). Embarque/Desembarque 1° Semestre 94 Folha de Informação Rápida. Divisão de Estatísticas Demográficas e Sociais, Praia.
- Direcção Geral de Estatística (1995). Embarque/Desembarque 2° Semestre 94 Folha de Informação Rápida. Divisão de Estatísticas Demográficas e Sociais, Praia.
- Direcção Geral de Estatística (1995). Situação Demográfica de Cabo Verde 1994. Divisão de Estatísticas Demográficas e Sociais, Praia.

- Direcção Geral de Estatística (1996). Embarque/Desembarque 95. Divisão de Estatísticas Demográficas e Sociais, Praia.
- DNSI, Recensement Général de la Population et de l'Habitat (RGPH) 1976, 1987, 1998
- -. Enquête Démographique Nationale 1960/61, 1985.
- DNSI-CERPOD (1993), Enquête Migrations et Urbanisation 1992/93 (REMUAO)
- Dubresson A. (1975), « Les travailleurs soninké et toucouleur dans l'Ouest parisien », *Cahiers ORSTOM, Série Sciences Humaines*, 12, 1, pp.189-208.
- Ebin V. (1990), « Commerçants et missionnaires : une confrérie musulmane sénégalaise à New-York », *Hommes et migrations*, n° 1132, pp.25-31.
- -. (1993), « Les commerçants mourides à Marseille et à New York. Regards sur les stratégies d'implantation », Grégoire E. et Labazee P. eds, Grands commerçants d'Afrique de l'Ouest. Logiques et pratiques d'un groupe d'hommes d'affaires contemporains, Khartala-Orstom, pp.101-123.
- Ebin V. et Lake R. (1992), « Camelots à New-York : les pionniers de l'immigration sénégalaise », *Hommes et migrations*, n° 1160, pp.32-37.
- Fall A.S. (2003), Enjeux et défies de la migration de travail ouest africaine, International Migration Paper N° 63, Bureau International du Travail.
- Fall B. et Mbodj M. (1988), « Travail forcé et migrations en Sénégambie », *Historiens et Géographes du Sénégal*, n°3, pp.23-29.
- Fiéloux M. (1976), « Les migrations lobi en Côte d'Ivoire : archaïsme ou création sociale », J.L. Amselle (éd.), *Les migrations africaines*, Paris, Maspero, pp.43-61.
- Fieloux,, M. (1980), Les sentiers de la nuit; les migrations rurales lobi de la Haute Volta vers la Côte d'Ivoire, ORSTOM, Paris , 185 p.
- Findley, S.E (1987), « An Interactive Contextual Model of Migration in Ilocos Nortes, the Philippines. », *Demography*, vol. 24, n°2, pp. 143-162.
- Findley, S. E.et al. (1988), « From Seasonal Migration to International Migration: an Analysis of the Factors Affecting the Choices Made by Families of the Senegal River Valley », dans *Congrès africain de la population*, Dakar, vol. 2, pp.4.3.39-4.3.53.
- Findley S.E. (1991), « Sécheresse et migration dans la vallée du fleuve Sénégal: les femmes et les enfants dominent dans le nouveau type de migrant », *Pop. Sahel*, n° 16, pp.19-28.
- Grégory J.W. (1977), « Implications of Differents Types of Data Collection for the Study of Migration », dans *L'observation démographique dans les pays à statistiques déficientes*, Chaire Quetelet 1976, Département de Démographie, Université Catholique de Louvain, pp. 165-190.
- Grégory J.W. (1979), Underdevelopment, Dependence and Migration in Upper Volta, Collection de Tirés à Part n° 103, Université de Montréal, Canada, 21 p.
- Grégory J.W. (1988), « Migration et urbanisation », dans Tabutin, D. (éd.), *Population et sociétés en Afrique au sud du Sahara*, l'Harmattan, pp. 369-395.
- Grégory et al. (1978), African migration and peripheral capitalism, Collection de Tirés à Part, n°102, 13 p.

- Grégory et al. (1979), « L'analyse historique des migrations : la pertinence de l'analyse longitudinale à partir des histoires rétrospectives », Communication présentée au colloque sur l'analyse longitudinale, University of Alberta, Edmonton, 27 p.
- Grégory et al. (1986), « Démographie, impérialisme et sous-développement: le cas africain », dans Gauvreau, D. et al. (éd.), *Démographie et sous-développement dans le Tiers-Monde*, McGILL University, pp. 11-46.
- Grégory, J et Piché V. (1985), « La migration africaine vue à travers le prisme des enquêtes récentes » in *Chaire Quetelet 83. migrations internes: collecte des données et méthodes d'analyse*. Louvain la neuve, UCJ, Département de Démographie, pp.305-357.
- Guilmoto C.Z. (1997), « Migrations en Afrique de l'Ouest, effets d'échelle et déterminants », La ruralité dans les pays du Sud à la fin du 20e siecle, éd. Orstom, Collection Colloques et Séminaires, Paris, pp.495-529.
- Guilmoto C.Z. et Sandron F. (2000), « La dynamique interne des réseaux migratoires dans les pays en développement », *Revue Population*, 55:105-134.
- Hoffman E. & Lawrence, S. (1994), Statistics on International Labor Migration: A review of sources and methodological issues, Bureau of Statistics, International Project on Migrant Workers, International Labor Office Geneva.
- ILO (2000), Improving Methods of collecting migration statistics in central and Eastern Europe, Report of the Regional Training Seminar on Migration Statisctics, Warsaw, Poland, 30 June –2 July 1999.
- Institut National de la Statistique et de la Démographie (INSD) (1985), Recensement général de la population du Burkina, analyse des résultats définitifs, Ouagadougou, 318 p.
- Institut National de la Statistique et de la Démographie (INSD) (1985), Recensement général de la population, manuel de l'agent recenseur, Ouagadougou, 20 p.
- Institut National de la Statistique et de la Démographie (INSD), (1995), Rapport méthodologique: Enquête démographique de 1991, deuxième édition, Ministère de l'économie, des finances et du plan, 29 p.
- Instituto de Apoio ao Emigrante (1998). Países e Cidades de Acolhimento de Caboverdianos. Praia.
- Instituto Nacional de Estatística (2000). Manual do Agente Recenseador, Recenseamento Geral da População e Habitação Ano 2000. Gabinete do Censo 2000, Praia.
- Instituto Nacional de Estatística (2002). Cabo Verde RGPH 2000. Gabinete do Censo 2000, Praia.
- Instituto Nacional de Estatística (2002). Características Económicas da População RGPH 2000 de Cabo Verde. Gabinete do Censo 2000, Praia.
- Instituto Nacional de Estatística (2002). Migrações RGPH 2000. Gabinete do Censo 2000, Praia.
- Kane F. et Lericollais A. (1975), «L'émigration des Soninkés », *Cahier ORSTOM*, *Série Sciences Humaines*, XII, 2. pp.177-187.
- Kohler, J.-M (1972), Les migrations des Mossi de l'Ouest, Paris, O.R.S.T.O.M., Travaux et documents, n°18, 106 p.
- Koné D. (1995), « Noirs-Africains et Maghrébin ensemble dans les ville », Revue

- Européenne des Migrations Internationales, vol. 11, n°1, pp.100.
- Lahuec, J.P. (1979), « Le peuplement et l'abandon de la vallée de la Volta blanche en pays Bissa » , in Mobilité du peuplement Bissa et Mossi, Travaux et Documents de l'O.R.S.T.O.M. n°103, Paris, p.7-90.
- Lalou R. (1996), « Les migrations internationales en Afrique de l'ouest face à la crise », Coussy J. et Vallin J., *Crise et population en Afrique*, les Études du CEPED n° 13, éd. CEPED, pp.345-373.
- Lalou R., Ndiaye M. et Ndione B. (1996), « Permanence et changements des migrations internationales au Sénégal : une analyse exploratoire », *Colloque Systèmes et Dynamiques des migrations internationales ouest-africaines*, Dakar, Sénégal, 3-6 décembre.
- Lalou R. et Ndione B. (2005), « Stratégies migratoires et recomposition des solidarités dans un contexte de crise : l'exemple du Sénégal urbain », *Familles au Nord, Familles au Sud*, (à paraître).
- Lericollais A. (1975), « Peuplement et migration dans la vallée du Sénégal », *Cahiers ORSTOM*, *Série Sciences Humaines*, XII, 2, pp.123-136.
- Lesselingue, P.(1975), « Motivations de départ et opinions des migrants de travail », dans Enquêtes sur les mouvements de population à partir du pays Mossi (Haute-Volta) : les migrations internes, tome II, fasc. 3, O.R.S.T.O.M., pp. 1-28.
- Locoh T. (1991), « Structures familiales d'accueil des migrants et développement des structures familiales multipolaires en Afrique », Quesnel A. et Vimard P., *Migration*, *changements sociaux et développement*, éd. ORSTOM, collection colloques et séminaires, Paris, pp.279-295.
- Lututala M. (1996), « De la comparabilité des données sur les migrations africaines », Colloque Systèmes et dynamiques des migrations internationales ouest-africaines, Dakar, 3-6 décembre.
- Makinwa-Adebusoye P. (1992), « The West African System », in eds. M.M. Kritz, L.L. Lim et H. Zlotnik, International *Migration Systems*. *A Global Approach*., UIESP, Oxford University Press, pp.63-79.
- Marchal J.Y. (1975), « Géographie des aires d'émigration en pays Mossi » in *Enquêtes sur les mouvements de population à partir du pays Mossi (Haute-Volta) : les migrations de travail mossi*, tome II, fasc. 3, O.R.S.T.O.M., pp. 29-71.
- Marchal, J.Y (1979), « La pénétration Mossi dans la plaine du Gondo et le « Sahel » (Sous-Préfecture de Tougan et de Djibo) » , in *Mobilité du peuplement Bissa et Mossi*, Travaux et Documents de l' O.R.S.T.O.M. n°103, Paris, p.91-147.
- Marchal J.Y., 1983. Yatenga, nord Haute-Volta: la dynamique d'un espace rural soudano-sahelien. Paris, ORSTOM, (travaux et documents de l'ORSTOM), 873p.
- Ministério das Finanças, Planeamento e Desenvolvimento Regional (2002). Plano Nacional de *Desenvolvimento* (2002-2005), *Volume I e II*. Direcção Geral do Planeamento, Praia.
- Naïr S. (1997), Rapport de bilan et d'orientation sur la politique de développement liées aux flux migratoires, Mission Interministérielle « Migration/Codéveloppement » .
- Nations unies, World Population prospects, The 2000 revision, New York, 2001.

- Ndione B. (1993), Les étudiants sénégalais en France et le brain-drain, Mémoire de DEA, Laboratoire Migrinter, Université de Poitiers, 60p.
- Ndione B et Lombard J. (2004), « Diagnostic des projets de réinsertion économique des migrants de retours : étude de cas au Mali (Bamako, Kayes), *Revue Européenne des Migrations Internationales*, 20 (1), pp.169-195.
- Ndione B et Lalou R. (2004), « Tendances récentes des migrations internationales dans le Sénégal urbain : existe-t-il une dynamique de quartier ? Les exemples Dakar, Touba et Kaolack », *Colloque international de l'Aidelf*, Budapest, Hongrie, 20-24 septembre.
- Neu D., Daum C., Diakite M., Poulteau E. et Sène S. (2000), « Evaluation du Programme Développement Local et Migration au Mali et au Sénégal, 1991 1998 », Direction Générale de la Coopération Internationale et du Développement.
- Ouedraogo, D. O. (1993) « Les migrations burkinabé sous la révolution démocratiques et populaire: continuité ou rupture ? » in *Population, reproduction, sociétés. Perspectives et enjeux de démographie sociale*, mélanges en l'honneur de Joel W. Grégory, Dennis D. Cordel, Daniel Gauvreau, Raymond R. Gervais et Céline Le Bourdais (sous la direction de), Les presses de l'Université de Montréal, pp. 329-350.
- Ouédraogo D. et Piché V. (1995), L'insertion urbaine à Bamako, Paris, Karthala, 206p.
- OIM (2000), Etat de la migration dans le monde en 2000, co-éd. OIM-ONU, 308p.
- Piché, V. et al. (1981), « Migration et sous développement en Haute Volta : essai de typologie », *Cahier Québécois de Démographie*, vol. 10, n°1, pp. 87-120.
- Piché V., Ouedraogo D. et Marcoux R. (1996), « Les migrations internationales au Burkina Faso : les années 90 viendront-elles effacer un siècle de migrations circulaires masculines et bouleverser la division sexuelle de la mobilité spatiale », *Colloque Systèmes et dynamiques des migrations internationales ouest-africaines*, Dakar, 3-6 décembre.
- Poirier J.et Guiella G. (1994), « Dynamique du système de production, stratégie des ménages et fécondité: le cas du plateau central du Burkina Faso », Communication présentée aux *Vème journées démographiques de l'ORSTOM*, Paris, 28-30 septembre 1994.
- Quesnel, A. (1986), « La mobilité des populations du plateau de Dayes », dans *Migrations togolaises*, *bilan et perspectives*, pp. 321-346.
- Quesnel A. et Vaugelade J. (1975), « Les mouvements de population Mossi: démographie et migration », dans Les migrations de travail Mossi évolution récente et bilan actuel des migrations de travail: les migrants et la société Mossi, fascicule 1, 146 p.
- Rapports de synthèse du Forum de la Diaspora Malienne du 13 au 17 octobre 2003 à Bamako Mali
- Rapports des Missions Diplomatiques du Mali 2003 / MAECI / DIASPORA
- Rapports de la Direction Nationale des Services de Police
- Rapports des Enquêtes Conjoncturelles Agricoles du Mali / DNSI
- Rémy G.(1975), « les migrations vers les 'terres neuves'. Un nouveau courant migratoire », dans *Enquêtes sur les mouvements de population à partir du pays Mossi (Haute-Volta)* : les migrations internes, tome 1, fasc. 2, O.R.S.T.O.M., pp. 331-454.

- Rémy G. (1973), Les migrations de travail et les mouvements de colonisation Mossi : recueil bibliographique, Paris, O.R.S.T.O.M., Travaux et documents, n°20, 31 p.
- Robin N. (1992), « L'espace migratoire de l'Afrique de l'Ouest », *Hommes et Migrations* n° 1160, pp.6-15.
- -. (1995), « Espace de transit : Réalités ou succédané. De la nature de ce hasard », *Colloque Territoires*, *liens ou frontières* ?, 2-4 octobre, ORSTOM et Université Paris IV.
- -. (1996), Atlas des migrations internationales ouest-africaines vers l'Europe (1985-1993), EUROSTAT, ORSTOM, Paris, 109p.
- Revue Européenne des Migrations internationales, Migrations africaines vol. 10, n° 3.
- Robin N., Lalou R. et Ndiaye M. (1999), Facteurs d'attraction et de répulsion à l'origine des flux migratoires internationaux, Rapport National du Sénégal, EUROSTAT/NIDI/IRD.
- Roch J. (1975), « Les Migrations économiques de saison sèche en bassin arachidier sénégalais », *Cahiers ORSTOM*, *Série Sciences Humaines*, XII, 1, pp.51-81.
- Rocheteau G. (1973), « Société wolof et mobilité », *Cahiers ORSTOM*, *Série Sciences Humaines*, 12, 1, pp.3-18.
- Root B.D. and De Jong G. (1991), «Family Migration in a Developing Country», *Population Studies*, 45 : 221-233.
- Russell, S.S. (1993), « International Migration », in Demographic Change in Sub-Saharan Africa, National Research Council, National Academy Press, pp.297-349.
- -. (1996), « La migration internationale », Changements démographiques en Afrique Subsaharienne, Foote K-A., Hill K. H et Martin L. G., Cahier n° 135, PUF, INED, NAS, pp.296-337.
- Russell, S.S., Jacobsen, K.J. et Stanley, W.D. (1990), *International migration and Development in Sub-Sahara Africa*, Vol I, World Bank, Washington
- Salem G. (1981), De Dakar à Paris : des diasporas d'artisans et de commerçants. Etude socio-géographique du commerce sénégalais en France, Thèse de 3e cycle de géographie, Paris, EHESS-CNRS-ORSTOM, 240p.
- -. (1983), « De la brousse sénégalaise au boul'mich : le système commercial mouride en France », *Cahiers d'études africaines*, vol. XXI, pp.267-288.
- Sané I. (1993), De l'économie informelle au commerce international : les réseaux des marchands ambulants sénégalais en France, Thèse de sociologie, Université Lyon II, 396p.
- Savonnet, G. (1978) « Structures sociales et organisation de l'espace (exemples empruntés à la Haute-Volta) » in maîtrise de l'espace agraire et développement en Afrique tropicale -Logique paysanne et rationalité technique, actes du colloque de Ouagadougou 4-8 septembre 1978, pp.39-44.
- Schmidt di Friedberg O. (1993), «L'immigration africaine en Italie : le cas sénégalais », *Etudes internationales*, Vol. XXIV, n° 1, Université Laval, pp.127-138.
- -. (1995), « Les Burkinabé et les Sénégalais dans le contexte de l'immigration ouest-africaine en Italie », *Mondes en développement*, Tome 23, n° 91, pp.67-80.

- -. (1996), « La cohabitation en Italie du Nord, Maghrébins et Africains de l'Ouest à Turin et à Brescia », Colloque Systèmes et dynamiques des migrations internationales ouestafricaines, Dakar, Sénégal, 3-6 décembre.
- Skinner E.P (1965), "Labor Migration Among the Mossi of the Upper-Volta », dans Hilda Kuper (ed.) *Urbanization and Migration in West Africa*, Berkeley, Los Angeles, University of California, pp. 60-84.
- Schoorl J., Heering L., Esveldt I., Groenewold G., Van Der Erf R., Bosch A., De Valk H., De Bruijn. B. (2000), Facteurs d'attraction et de répulsion à l'origine des flux migratoires internationaux, Rapport comparatif, Eurostat.
- Suarez N. L. (1995), « Les Sénégalais en Andalousie », *Mondes en développement*, Tome 23, n° 91, pp.55-80.
- Tall S.M. (1994), « Les investissements immobiliers à Dakar des émigrants sénégalais », Revue Européenne des Migrations Internationales, Vol.10, n°3, pp.137-151.
- -. (2002), « L'émigration internationale sénégalaise d'hier à demain », M. C. Diop, *La société sénégalaise. Entre le local et le global*, Khartala, pp.549-578.
- Traoré S. (1992), Dimension ethnique de la migration dans la vallée du fleuve Sénégal, Thèse de doctorat, Université de Montréal, 290p.
- Vanhaeverbeke V. (1993), La migration des 'gens du fleuve Sénégal' vers la France : histoire, conséquences et perspectives, Mémoire de licence en sciences politiques, Université libre de Bruxelle, 118p.
- Zachariah K.C. et Condé J. (1981), *Migration in West Africa: Demographic Aspects*, New York, Oxford University, Press for the World Bank.
- Zanou B. (1996), « Niveaux et tendances de l'immigration externe en Côte d'Ivoire », Colloque Systèmes et dynamiques des migrations internationales ouest-africaines, Dakar, Sénégal, 3-6 décembre.

Annex of Statistics – Series of recent data on international migration REMUAO

Table 4: Migration statistics based on administrative records, by country

Dest.	Burkina	lvory	Guinea	Mali	Mauritania	Niger	Senegal	Total
Origin	Faso	Coast						REMUAO
Burkina Faso	-	383000	#	13000	#	18000	#	415000
Ivory Coast	380000	•	24000	117000	3000	47000	13000	583000
Guinea	#	38000	•	11000	3000	-	38000	91000
Mali	19000	166000	10000	•	6000	10000	12000	224000
Mauritania	#	8000	2000	5000	•	#	32000	47000
Niger	19000	67000	#	8000	#	-	#	94000
Senegal	1000	18000	37000	14000	31000	1000	-	103000
Total	419000	679000	73000	167000	45000	76000	97000	1556000
REMUAO								

[#] stocks under 1000 migrations

<u>Source</u>: Bocquier and Traoré, 1996, « Nouvelles tendances des migrations internationales d'après les enquêtes du Réseau Migrations et Urbanisation en Afrique de l'Ouest (REMUAO)»

Table 5: Three most recent censuses by country, year and migration variables

Dest.	Burkina	Ivory	Guinea	Mali	Mauritania	Niger	Senegal
Origin	Faso	Coast					
Burkina Faso	-	4,52	0,01	0,28	0,08	0,39	0,01
Ivory Coast	4,48	-	0,45	1,64	0,22	0,67	0,18
Guinea	0,00	0,73	-	0,38	0,55	0,00	1,35
Mali	0,41	2,33	0,35	-	0,74	0,27	0,31
Mauritania	0,04	0,50	0,35	0,57	-	0,02	3,82
Niger	0,41	0,96	0,00	0,20	0,00	-	0,03
Senegal	0,03	0,26	1,28	0,36	3,72	0,03	•

<u>Source</u>: Bocquier and Traoré, 1996, « Nouvelles tendances des migrations internationales d'après les enquêtes du Réseau Migrations et Urbanisation en Afrique de l'Ouest (REMUAO)»

Table 6: The three most recent surveys by country and year, showing the migration variables included

Migration	Burkina	lvory	Guinea	Mali	Mauritania	Niger	Senegal	Total
rate	Faso	Coast				,	,	REMUAO
Compared to REMUAO countries	+0,02 %	+0,28 %	-0,13 %	-0,29 %	-0,05 %	-0,10 %	-0,03 %	-
Compared to the rest of the world	+0,04 %	+0,53 %	-0,09 %	-0,61 %	n.a.	-0,48 %	-0,43 %	-0,08 %

n.a. no available

<u>Source</u>: Bocquier and Traoré, 1996, « Nouvelles tendances des migrations internationales d'après les enquêtes du Réseau Migrations et Urbanisation en Afrique de l'Ouest (REMUAO)»

Tableau 7 : Distribution of internal and international migration. Period 1988-92. Population aged 15 and over

Migration rate	Burkina Faso	Côte d'Ivoire	Guinea	Mali	Niger	Senegal	Total REMUAO
Between							
regions	29,3 %	49,9 %	36,2 %	41,1 %	35,4 %	61,2 %	56,4 %
REMUAO	65,1 %	44,9 %	42,2 %	46,2 %	20,9 %	21,9 %	27,4 %
West Africa	5,4 %	4,1 %	15,7 %	3,1 %	35,6 %	5,3 %	10,7 %
Others	0,3 %	1,1 %	5,9 %	9,6 %	8,1 %	11,6 %	5,5 %

<u>Source</u>: Bocquier and Traoré, 1996, « Nouvelles tendances des migrations internationales d'après les enquêtes du Réseau Migrations et Urbanisation en Afrique de l'Ouest (REMUAO)»

BURKINA FASO

Table 8 : Burkina Faso : Origin of immigrants in 1996

Origin	Stocks	%
Ivory Coast	16008	38.4
Mali	3043	7.3
Ghana	2168	5.2
Gabon	1542	3.7
Togo	1376	3.3
Niger	1668	4
Mauritania	1626	3.9
Gambia	2335	5.6
Other Africa	6795	16.3
Outside Africa	5211	12.5
Total	41688	100

Source: Census in Burkina Faso 1996

Table 9: Distribution of foreign residents in Burkina Faso in 1996

Nationality	Male	Female	Total
Burkinabé	4941336	5309623	10250959
Foreigners	29546	32104	61650
Béninois	2051	1926	3977
Ivorians	871	1019	1890
Ghaneans	1479	3654	5133
Malians	11876	12166	24042
From Niger	4189	3415	7604
Nigerians	2187	2247	4434
Senegaleses	637	410	1047
Togoleses	1287	2714	4001
Other Africans	3099	3053	6152
Européens	962	905	1867
Autres	886	589	1475
No available	22	6	28
Total	4970882	5341727	10312609

Source: Census in Burkina Faso 1996

Table 10 : Burkina Faso : Breakdown by age and sex of migrants in 1999

	Immi	Immigrants of the last 12 months					Emigrants of the last 12 months					Migratory balance		
Age	Total	Male	Female	A۷.	%	Total	Male	Female	Av.	%	Total	Male	Female	
Total	163061	94660	68401	138,4	100	185297	153246	32051	478,1	100	-22236	-58586	36350	
<15	60985	32828	28157	116,6	34,7	21520	11849	9671	122,5	7,7	39465	20979	18486	
15-19	16926	6044	10882	55,5	6,4	43535	33230	10305	322,5	21,7	-26609	-27186	577	
20-24	32222	16340	15882	102,9	17,3	49915	45315	4600	985,1	29,6	-17693	-28975	11282	
25-29	18288	13461	4827	278,9	14,2	35210	28280	6930	408,1	18,5	-16922	-14819	-2103	
30-34	9872	6930	2942	235,6	7,3	13291	13040	251	5195,2	8,5	-3419	-6110	2691	
35-39	11041	7453	3588	207,7	7,9	11886	11815	71	16640,8	7,7	-845	-4362	3517	
40-44	3053	2764	289	956,4	2,9	5167	4944	223	2217,0	3,2	-2114	-2180	66	
45-49	1892	971	921	105,4	1,0	2642	2642	0	-	1,7	-750	-1671	921	
50-54	1791	1791	0	-	1,9	251	251	0	-	0,2	1540	1540	0	
55 & +	6991	6078	913	665,7	6,4	1880	1880	0	-	1,2	5111	4198	913	

Source: Survey « migration et insertion urbaine au Burkina-2000 »

Table 11 : Burkina Faso : Distribution of emigrants in 1999, by destination

Countries of						
destination	Male		Female		Tota	al
	stock	%	stock	%	stock	%
Benin	1429	0,9	122	0,4	1551	0,8
Ivory Coast	145143	92,8	31743	95,0	176886	93,1
Gabon	0	0,0	31	0,1	31	0,0
Ghana	6711	4,3	0	0,0	6711	3,5
Mali	1139	0,7	854	2,6	1993	1,0
Niger	130	0,1	373	1,1	503	0,3
Togo	666	0,4	0	0,0	666	0,4
Ather Afr	638	0,4	0	0,0	638	0,3
No Afr.	514	0,3	304	0,9	818	0,4
N.A	108	0,1	0	0,0	108	0,1
Total	156478	100	33427	100	189905	100

Source: Survey « migration et insertion urbaine au Burkina-2000 »

Table 12: Burkina Faso Distribution of immigrants in 1999, by country of origin

Origin	Male		Female		Total		
	stock	%	stock	%	stock	%	
Benin	749	0,8	0	0,0	749	0,5	
Ivory Coast	78690	83,1	55428	81,0	134118	82,3	
Gabon	0	0,0	195	0,3	195	0,1	
Ghana	6369	6,7	6931	10,1	13300	8,2	
Mali	3294	3,5	2567	3,8	5861	3,6	
Niger	2908	3,1	794	1,2	3702	2,3	
Togo	1565	1,7	437	0,6	2002	1,2	
Other Afr.	770	0,8	1215	1,8	1985	1,2	
No Afr.	315	0,3	834	1,2	1149	0,7	
Total	94660	100	68401	100	163061	100	

Source Survey « migration et insertion urbaine au Burkina-2000 »

Table 13 : Burkina Faso : Foreign population broken down by age and sex in 2000

Age	Male	Female	Total	
<15	15702	13162	28864	
15-19	2316	1733	4049	
20-24	4292	4241	8533	
25-29	3483	3878	7361	
30-34	2986	5604	8590	
35-39	2572	2543	5115	
40-44	437	2498	2935	
45-49	1884	1391	3275	
50-54	1070	940	2010	
55-59	799	22	821	
60-64	1000	1102	2102	
65-69	227	224	451	
70-74	559	1064	1623	
75-79	0	392	392	
80 et +	463	0	463	
Total	37790	38794	76584	

Source : Survey « migration et insertion urbaine au Burkina-2000 »

CAPE-VERDE

Table 14 : Cape-Verde : Distribution of immigrants by nationality and sex in 2000 "Most recent migration method"

Nationality / Sex	Male	Female	Total
Cap-Verdeans	7.621	5.907	13.528
Double	1.509	1.090	2.599
Foreigners	2.271	1.681	3.952
Total	11.401	8.678	20.079

Source: INE - RGPH/2000

Table 15 : Cape-Verde: Resident population broken down by sex and nationality (2000)

Sex/Nati	CV	CV+		Only foreigners									Unk	Total
on	alone	Foreig	Total	Sene	Nigeri	Gam	G.	Angol	Portu	France	Chine	Other	now	
		ners		gal	a	bia	Bissau	a	gal			S	n	
Male	202080	2465	2876	266	119	11	474	314	357	68	32	1236	573	207994
Female	219454	2031	2124	111	25	1	217	350	326	52	19	1023	386	223995
Total	421534	4496	5000	377	144	12	691	664	683	120	51	2258	959	431989

Source: INE - RGPH /2000

Table 16: Cape-Verde: Active population aged 10 and over by nationality and economic sector (2000)

Nationality/Sex	Male	Female	Total
Cap-verdeans only	74457	63849	138306
Cap-verdeans and/or	3470	1962	5432
others			
Africans	2269	1146	3415
South Africa	6	7	13
Algeria	10	6	16
Sao Tome e Principe	709	514	1223
Angola	453	366	819
Mozambique	14	5	19
Guinea Bissau	478	127	605
Gambia	10	1	11
Ghana	81	8	89
Guinea	50	12	62
Mali	11	1	12
Nigeria	120	19	139
Sierra Leone	28	5	33
Senegal	261	58	319
Other Africa	38	17	55
Europe	1000	621	1621
Portugal	710	468	1178
Germany	25	9	34
Belgium	12	12	24
Spain	16	1	17
France	63	38	101
Italy	64	17	81
The Netherlands	66	20	86
Russia	8	28	36
Other Europe	36	28	64
America	144	159	303
USA	83	57	140
Brazil	18	32	50
Cuba	30	57	87
Other America	13	13	26
Asia	57	36	93
China	28	16	44
Other Asia	29	20	49
Undetermined	93	51	144
Total	78020	65862	143882

Source : INE - RGPH/2000

Table 17: Cape-Verde: Active population aged 15 and over by nationality and occupational group (2000)

Nationality/Sex	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Undetermined	Total
Cap-verdeans only	34093	25398	75263	3552	138306
Cap-verdeans and/or	441	987	3823	181	5432
others					
Africans	227	699	2395	94	3415
South Africa	1	1	11	0	13
Algeria	3	0	12	1	16
Sao Tome e Principe	145	268	782	28	1223
Angola	66	176	554	23	819
Mozambique	1	5	13	0	19
Guinea Bissau	2	163	425	15	605
Gambia	0	0	11	0	11
Ghana	1	14	71	3	89
Guinea	1	9	50	2	62
Mali	0	1	11	0	12
Nigeria	0	2	135	2	139
Sierra Leone	0	5	27	1	33
Senegal	4	49	251	15	319
Other Africa	3	6	42	4	55
Europe	202	238	1113	68	1621
Portugal	152	182	803	41	1178
Germany	2	3	27	2	34
Belgium	3	4	17	0	24
Spain	4	3	10	0	17
France	16	13	64	8	101
Italy	2	18	54	7	81
The Netherlands	16	7	57	6	86
Russia	0	2	32	2	36
Other Europe	7	6	49	2	64
America	11	15	260	17	303
USA	10	8	112	10	140
Brazil	1	1	43	5	50
Cuba	0	5	81	1	87
Other America	0	1	24	1	26
Asia	1	35	55	2	93
China	0	0	44	0	44
Other Asia	1	35	11	2	49
Undetermined	18	25	93	8	144
Total	34552	26410	79179	3741	143882

Source : INE - RGPH/2000

Table 18 : Cape-Verde: Active population aged 15 and over by nationality and professional status (2000)

Nationality/Group	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	0	Undert.	Total
Capverdeans only	1160	5371	5783	3924	17614	29587	22901	7166	36890	317	5442	136155
Capverdeans and/or	291	821	389	548	882	404	855	196	1013	12	314	5426
Others												
Africans	46	301	177	130	625	203	697	141	927	6	457	3410
South Africa	1	1	0	0	2	1	1	0	6		1	13
Algeria	0	3	0	2	2	3	0	0	5	0	1	16
Sao Tome e Principe	4	40	37	32	175	122	276	67	422	0	47	1222
Angola	13	84	72	39	121	62	161	39	195	2	29	817
Mozambique	4	0	4	1	4	1	0	1	2	0	2	19
Guinea Bissau	5	112	42	36	92	5	152	23	95	2	40	604
Gambia	0	1	0	0	4	0	0	0	5	0	1	11
Ghana	0	4	1	0	31	0	33	0	18	0	2	89
Guinea	0	5	1	4	21	1	8	1	16	0	5	62
Mali	0	1	1	0	4	0	2	1	1	0	2	12
Nigeria	0	2	1	0	13	0	6	47	9	91	2	20
Sierra Leone	0	2	1	0	13	0	6	0	10	0	1	33
Senegal	16	39	12	11	65	6	47	9	91	2	20	313
Other Africa	3	7	5	4	13	2	6	0	11	0	4	33
Europe	205	361	183	103	190	191	149	49	79	7	103	1620
Portugal	132	247	141	90	128	146	120	33	67	6	67	1177
Germany	6	6	7	1	5	2	5	1	0	0	1	34
Belgium	3	8	4	2	2	2	2	0	0	0	1	24
Spain	4	2	2	0	0	4	2	2	1	0	0	17
France	18	29	11	3	10	16	2	1	2	0	9	101
Italy	21	12	7	2	13	1	5	3	3	1	13	813
The Netherlands	10	10	3	0	23	14	8	6	6	0	6	86
Russia	3	25	4	2	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	36
Other Europe	8	22	4	3	8	6	5	3	0	0	5	64
America	29	150	24	10	33	10	7	6	6	0	28	303
USA	18	46	7	4	29	9	4	5	4	0	14	140
Brazil	2	28	5	2	2	1	2	0	2	0	6	50
Cuba	2	28	5	2	2	4	2	0	2	0	6	50
Other America	3	12	4	0	1	0	1	1	0	0	4	26
Asia	11	9	5	5	34	0	2	0	1	0	26	93
China	6	3	0	3	32	0	0	0	0	0	0	44
Other Asia	5	6	5	4	4	0	4	0	1	0	26	49
Undetermined	3	17	5	10	19	16	27	3	36	0	9	144
Total	1454	6209	6176	4182	18515	30007	23783	7365	37939	330	5765	414725

Source: INE- RPGH/2000

Table 19 : Cape-Verde : Distribution of grant-holders abroad by training sector (Academic year 2004/2005)

		Wo	rkers		Employers	Familial	Others	Indet.	Total
Nationality/Group	Public	Private	Public	Self-		workers no			
, ,	Admin.	Ent.	Ent.	employed		remunerated			
Cape-verdeans	24770	22231	5570	39884	3277	14449	17933	8041	136155
only									
Cape-verdeans	1078	1159	239	1587	245	159	589	370	5426
and/or Others									
Africans	631	631	146	1132	112	86	432	240	3410
South Africa	3	2	1	2	0	0	1	4	13
Algeria	4	1	0	0	1	2	6	2	16
Sao Tome e	229	193	66	382	31	38	211	72	1222
Principe									
Angola	195	178	30	165	43	34	107	65	817
Mozambique	1	9	1	2	1	0	2	3	19
Guinea Bissau	136	167	30	169	15	4	41	42	604
Gambia	0	0	1	9	0	0	1	0	11
Ghana	0	8	0	69	2	0	6	4	89
Guinea	3	0	0	8	0	0	0	1	12
Mali	3	0	0	8	0	0	0	1	12
Nigeria	0	1	1	106	3	4	15	9	139
Sierra Leone	2	1	0	26	0	1	1	2	33
Senegal	40	48	10	147	11	2	30	30	318
Other Africa	9	13	6	17	5	0	4	1	55
Europe	336	438	81	382	108	71	108	96	1620
Portugal	267	305	70	283	68	54	62	68	1177
Germany	4	7	0	12	2	2	7	0	34
Belgium	4	8	0	6	3	0	1	2	24
Spain	5	5	0	3	1	2	1	0	17
France	15	25	3	16	9	8	15	10	101
Italy	3	40	3	17	5	2	7	4	81
The Netherlands	8	19	0	26	16	2	9	6	86
Russia	16	10	3	2	1	0	2	2	36
Other Europe	14	19	2	17	3	1	4	4	64
America	106	41	12	53	19	1	45	26	303
USA	25	17	3	44	18	1	20	12	140
Brazil	14	11	2	2	1	0	16	4	50
Cuba	55	12	5	3	0	0	3	9	87
Other America	12	1	2	4	0	0	6	1	26
Asia	5	49	0	20	6	1	4	8	93
China	3	13	0	17	5	1	1	4	44
Other Asia	2	36	0	3	1	0	3	4	49
Undetermined	30	22	3	44	7	5	15	18	144
Total	25878	23412	5812	41515	3529	14613	18537	8429	141725

Source : INE - RGPH/2000

Table 20 : Cape-Verde: Distribution of grant-holders undergoing training abroad, by sex (Academic year 2004/2005)

Field of activity / country	Brazil	Cuba	Portugal	Czech Rep.	Russia	Total
Arts	2					2
Agrarian Sciences	1					1
Biological Sciences	11		9			20
Health Sciences	50	82	15	1	2	150
True Sciences	47	6	96	1	6	156
Human Sciences	46		30			77
Social Sciences	83	6	149	5	13	256
Literature	9		8		1	18
Others					12	2
Total	249	95	307	7	34	692

Source : DESC

Table 21 :_Cape-Verde: Distribution of grant holders following training abroad, by sex (Academic year 2004/2005)

Country /Sex	Male	Female	Total
Brazil	124	125	249
Cuba	50	45	95
Portugal	150	157	307
Czech Rep.	2	5	7
Russia	12	22	34
Total	338	354	692

Source : DESC

Table 22 : Cape-Verde : Estimated number of Cape-verdeans by host country (1998)

Country/Continent	Number
USA	264.900
Argentina	5.200
Brazil	3.000
Canada	300
Total - America	273.400
Angola	45.000
Mozambique	1.000
S. Tome & Principe	20.000
Guinea-Bissau	2.000
Senegal	25.000
Gabon	200
Total - Africa	93.200
Norway	300
Portugal	80.000
Luxembourg	3.000
France	25.000
The Netherlands	16.580
Italy	10.000
Spain	12.000
Switzerland	2.400
Belgium	800
Sweden	700
Germany	800
Total – Europe	151.580
Total General	518.180

<u>Source</u> : IAPE (1998)

Table 23 : Cape-Verde : Transfers made by emigrants, by country of origin and year (millions of escudos)

Country/Year	1990	1991	1992	1993	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004
USA	780.9	768	749	1238	1470	1143.9	1184.8	1399.6	1625.1	1948.9	2321.1	2515.6	2193.5	1886.4	1689.8
The Netherlands	611.9	679	674	888	914.1	1024.1	898.2	839.2	1137.8	1386.5	1136	1352	881.4	798.5	759.5
France	459.4	510	561	696	688.8	794.8	760.8	673	824.1	877.7	1034	1532.9	1719.9	1896	1988.9
Italy	270.6	329	358	340	345.2	443.4	557.5	484.4	552.1	637.9	608.5	720.1	387	492.2	651.2
Germany	150.5	162	200	216	200	242	258.6	241.9	235.1	245.4	273.4	237.6	80.6	88.6	102.3
Portugal	238.5	370	4563	440	779.9	1271.9	1481.4	1057	1878.7	1490.1	1578.1	1726.2	2023.9	2025.9	2553.6
England	73.3	78	64	66	75.4	147	180.4	176.6	235.9	258.2	142	122.4	105.2	63.3	78.8
Switzerland	102.8	122.3	144.9	133.2	193.5	237	209.1	219.8	187.8	195.5	160.9	164.9	132.2	150.1	164.9
Angola	32.1	9	13	10	0	0	0.6	10.4	9.7	17.7	16.1	14.2	3.9	9.4	7.6
Luxembourg	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	160.5	108.1	90.3	130.3	159.3
Spain	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	219.7
Others	379.9	467	577	595	551	542.4	595.1	518	474.8	395.6	302.9	357.7	320.1	388.2	365.4
TOTAL	3135.9	3494.3	3793.9	4622.2	5127.8	5843.5	6126.5	5620.2	7161	7456.6	7733.5	8851.8	8010	7928.5	8741

Source : BCV

MALI

Table 24 : Mali : Distribution of returning international migrants by region of residence at the time of the 1998 census and most recent country of destination

Koulikoro N N 263 5158 65 20 173 310 118 279 75 39 6500 Sikasso N 149 8490 416 13 22 97 53 38 7 21 9306 Ségou N N 149 8490 416 13 22 97 53 38 7 21 9306 Ségou N N 51 3264 405 19 163 61 136 76 6 58 4239 Mopti N 97 4550 839 61 259 74 208 126 5 180 6399 % 1,5 71,1 13,1 1,0 4,0 1,2 3,3 2,0 0,1 2,8 10 Tombouct N 61 699 124 329 4082 239 125 216 1 26 5902 Gao N 17			Guinea	Côte d'Ivoire	Burkina Faso	Niger	Mauri tania	Senegal	Other West Africa	Other Africa	France	Other rest of the world	Total
Koulikoro N 263 5158 65 20 173 310 118 279 75 39 6500 % 4,0 79,4 1,0 0,3 2,7 4,8 1,8 4,3 1,2 0,6 10 Sikasso N N 149 8490 416 13 22 97 53 38 7 21 9306 % 1,6 91,2 4,5 0,1 0,2 1,0 0,6 0,4 0,1 0,2 10 Ségou N N 51 3264 405 19 163 61 136 76 6 58 4239 % 1,2 77,0 9,6 0,4 3,8 1,4 3,2 1,8 0,1 1,4 10 Mopti N 97 4550 839 61 259 74 208 126 5 180 6399 % 1,5 71,1 13,1	Kayes	N	179	1179	55	19	250	453	184	337	747	52	3455
Koulikoro N 263 5158 65 20 173 310 118 279 75 39 6500 % 4,0 79,4 1,0 0,3 2,7 4,8 1,8 4,3 1,2 0,6 10 Sikasso N N 149 8490 416 13 22 97 53 38 7 21 9306 % 1,6 91,2 4,5 0,1 0,2 1,0 0,6 0,4 0,1 0,2 10 Ségou N N 51 3264 405 19 163 61 136 76 6 58 4239 % 1,2 77,0 9,6 0,4 3,8 1,4 3,2 1,8 0,1 1,4 10 Mopti N 97 4550 839 61 259 74 208 126 5 180 6399 % 1,5 71,1 13,1		%	5,2	34,1	1,6	0,5	7,2	13,1	5,3	9,8	21,6	1,5	100,0
N 149	Koulikor	0			,								Í
Sikasso N 149 8490 416 13 22 97 53 38 7 21 9306 % 1,6 91,2 4,5 0,1 0,2 1,0 0,6 0,4 0,1 0,2 10 Ségou N 51 3264 405 19 163 61 136 76 6 58 4239 % 1,2 77,0 9,6 0,4 3,8 1,4 3,2 1,8 0,1 1,4 10 Mopti N 97 4550 839 61 259 74 208 126 5 180 6399 % 1,5 71,1 13,1 1,0 4,0 1,2 3,3 2,0 0,1 2,8 10 Tombouct N 61 699 124 329 4082 239 125 216 1 26 5902 Gao N 1,7 185		N	263	5158	65	20			118	279	75	39	
N 149		%	4,0	79,4	1,0	0,3	2,7	4,8	1,8	4,3	1,2	0,6	100,0
% 1,6 91,2 4,5 0,1 0,2 1,0 0,6 0,4 0,1 0,2 10 Ségou N 51 3264 405 19 163 61 136 76 6 58 4239 % 1,2 77,0 9,6 0,4 3,8 1,4 3,2 1,8 0,1 1,4 10 Mopti N 97 4550 839 61 259 74 208 126 5 180 6399 % 1,5 71,1 13,1 1,0 4,0 1,2 3,3 2,0 0,1 2,8 10 Tombouct N 61 699 124 329 4082 239 125 216 1 26 5902 % 1,0 11,8 2,1 5,6 69,2 4,0 2,1 3,7 0,0 0,4 10 Gao N 17 185 665	Sikasso												
Ségou N 51 3264 405 19 163 61 136 76 6 58 4239 % 1,2 77,0 9,6 0,4 3,8 1,4 3,2 1,8 0,1 1,4 10 Mopti N 97 4550 839 61 259 74 208 126 5 180 6399 % 1,5 71,1 13,1 1,0 4,0 1,2 3,3 2,0 0,1 2,8 10 Tombouct N 61 699 124 329 4082 239 125 216 1 26 5902 % 1,0 11,8 2,1 5,6 69,2 4,0 2,1 3,7 0,0 0,4 10 Gao N 17 185 665 900 8 7 736 60 3 36 2617 % 0,6 7,1 25,4 34,4													
N 51		%	1,6	91,2	4,5	0,1	0,2	1,0	0,6	0,4	0,1	0,2	100,0
Mopti N 97 4550 839 61 259 74 208 126 5 180 6399 % 1,5 71,1 13,1 1,0 4,0 1,2 3,3 2,0 0,1 2,8 10 Tombouct N 0,61 699 124 329 4082 239 125 216 1 26 5902 % 1,0 11,8 2,1 5,6 69,2 4,0 2,1 3,7 0,0 0,4 10 Gao N 17 185 665 900 8 7 736 60 3 36 2617 % 0,6 7,1 25,4 34,4 0,3 0,3 28,1 2,3 0,1 1,4 10 Kidal N 3 2 17 2 21 486 2 2 535 % 0,6 0,4 3,2 0,4 3,9 <	Ségou	N	51	3264	405	19	163	61				58	4239
N 97 4550 839 61 259 74 208 126 5 180 6399 % 1,5 71,1 13,1 1,0 4,0 1,2 3,3 2,0 0,1 2,8 10 Tombouct N 61 699 124 329 4082 239 125 216 1 26 5902 % 1,0 11,8 2,1 5,6 69,2 4,0 2,1 3,7 0,0 0,4 10 Gao N 17 185 665 900 8 7 736 60 3 36 2617 % 0,6 7,1 25,4 34,4 0,3 0,3 28,1 2,3 0,1 1,4 10 Kidal N 3 2 17 2 21 486 2 2 535 % 0,6 0,4 3,2 0,4 3,9 90,8 0,4		%	1,2	77,0	9,6	0,4	3,8	1,4	3,2	1,8	0,1	1,4	100,0
Tombouct N 61 699 124 329 4082 239 125 216 1 26 5902 % 1,0 11,8 2,1 5,6 69,2 4,0 2,1 3,7 0,0 0,4 10 Gao N 17 185 665 900 8 7 736 60 3 36 2617 % 0,6 7,1 25,4 34,4 0,3 0,3 28,1 2,3 0,1 1,4 10 Kidal N 3 2 17 2 21 486 2 2 535 % 0,6 0,4 3,2 0,4 3,9 90,8 0,4 0,4 10 Bamako N 189 1326 157 68 39 205 170 298 214 205 2871 Total N 1006 24854 2728 1446 4998	Mopti	N	97			61	259	74	208	126	5	180	6399
Tombouct N 61 699 124 329 4082 239 125 216 1 26 5902 % 1,0 11,8 2,1 5,6 69,2 4,0 2,1 3,7 0,0 0,4 10 Gao N 17 185 665 900 8 7 736 60 3 36 2617 % 0,6 7,1 25,4 34,4 0,3 0,3 28,1 2,3 0,1 1,4 10 Kidal N 3 2 17 2 21 486 2 2 535 % 0,6 0,4 3,2 0,4 3,9 90,8 0,4 0,4 10 Bamako N 189 1326 157 68 39 205 170 298 214 205 2871 Total N 1006 24854 2728 1446 4998		%	1,5	71,1	13,1	1,0	4,0	1,2	3,3	2,0	0,1	2,8	100,0
Gao N 17 185 665 900 8 7 736 60 3 36 2617 % 0,6 7,1 25,4 34,4 0,3 0,3 28,1 2,3 0,1 1,4 10 Kidal N 3 2 17 2 21 486 2 2 535 % 0,6 0,4 3,2 0,4 3,9 90,8 0,4 0,4 10 Bamako N 189 1326 157 68 39 205 170 298 214 205 2871 Total N 1006 24854 2728 1446 4998 1446 1751 1916 1060 619 41824	Tombou		61				4082	239	125			26	5902
Gao N 17 185 665 900 8 7 736 60 3 36 2617 % 0,6 7,1 25,4 34,4 0,3 0,3 28,1 2,3 0,1 1,4 100 Kidal N 3 2 17 2 21 486 2 2 535 % 0,6 0,4 3,2 0,4 3,9 90,8 0,4 0,4 10 Bamako N 189 1326 157 68 39 205 170 298 214 205 2871 Total N 1006 24854 2728 1446 4998 1446 1751 1916 1060 619 41824		%	1,0	11,8	2,1	5,6	69,2	4,0	2,1	3,7	0,0	0,4	100,0
Kidal N 3 2 17 2 21 486 2 2 535 % 0,6 0,4 3,2 0,4 3,9 90,8 0,4 0,4 100 Bamako N 189 1326 157 68 39 205 170 298 214 205 2871 % 6,6 46,2 5,5 2,4 1,4 7,1 5,9 10,4 7,5 7,1 10 Total N 1006 24854 2728 1446 4998 1446 1751 1916 1060 619 41824	Gao	N	17	185			8	7				36	2617
Kidal N 3 2 17 2 21 486 2 2 535 % 0,6 0,4 3,2 0,4 3,9 90,8 0,4 0,4 10 Bamako N 189 1326 157 68 39 205 170 298 214 205 2871 Total N 1006 24854 2728 1446 4998 1446 1751 1916 1060 619 41824		%	0,6	7,1	25,4	34,4	0,3	0,3	28,1	2,3	0,1	1,4	100,0
% 0,6 0,4 3,2 0,4 3,9 90,8 0,4 0,4 10 Bamako N N 189 1326 157 68 39 205 170 298 214 205 2871 % 6,6 46,2 5,5 2,4 1,4 7,1 5,9 10,4 7,5 7,1 10 Total N 1006 24854 2728 1446 4998 1446 1751 1916 1060 619 41824	Kidal	N					2					2	535
Bamako N 189 1326 157 68 39 205 170 298 214 205 2871 % 6,6 46,2 5,5 2,4 1,4 7,1 5,9 10,4 7,5 7,1 10 Total N 1006 24854 2728 1446 4998 1446 1751 1916 1060 619 41824							0.4						
N 189 1326 157 68 39 205 170 298 214 205 2871 % 6,6 46,2 5,5 2,4 1,4 7,1 5,9 10,4 7,5 7,1 100 Total N 1006 24854 2728 1446 4998 1446 1751 1916 1060 619 41824	Bamako			-,•	-,,,	-,-	-,.			22,0	-,.	-,.	111,0
Total N 1006 24854 2728 1446 4998 1446 1751 1916 1060 619 41824		N	189	1326	157	68	39	205	170	298	214	205	2871
Total N 1006 24854 2728 1446 4998 1446 1751 1916 1060 619 41824		%	6,6	46,2	5,5	2,4	1,4	7,1	5,9	10,4	7,5	7,1	100,0
	Total	N	1006										
		%											

Source: RGPH, 1998

Table 25 : Mali : Returning migrants by region of residence and most recent destination outside the region (1998)

	Kayes	Koulikoro	Sikasso	Ségou	Mopti	Tombouct	Gao	Kidal	Bamako	Total
Other Africa	337	279	38	76	126	216	60	486	298	1916
	17,6	14,6	2,0	4,0	6,6	11,3	3,1	25,4	15,6	100,0
France	747	75	7	6	5	1	3	2	214	1060
	70,5	7,1	0,7	0,6	0,5	0,1	0,3	0,2	20,2	100,0
Other Rest of world	52	39	21	58	180	26	36	2	205	619
	8,4	6,3	3,4	9,4	29,1	4,2	5,8	0,3	33,1	100,0
Total	1136	393	66	140	311	243	99	490	717	3595
	31,6	10,9	1,8	3,9	8,7	6,8	2,8	13,6	19,9	100,0

Source: RGPH, 1998

Table 26: Mali: Distribution of Malian university students by country (2003)

Continents	Country	Stocks	%
	France	49	20,6
Europe	Germany	25	10,5
	Other Europe	11	4,6
	Senegal	25	10,5
	Côte d'Ivoire	24	10,1
	Niger	13	5,5
Africa	Burkina Faso	6	2,5
	Guinea	1	0,4
	Gabon	17	7,1
	Zimbabwe	1	0,4
	Maghreb	2	0,8
	USA	29	12,2
America	Canada	29	12,2
	Other America	4	1,7
Asia	Japan	2	0,8
Total		238	100

Source: University -Rectorat/Procjet TOKTEN, August 2003-Bamako

Table 27 : Mali Transfers of funds from migrants compared with GDP from 2000 to 2002 (in billions of CFA)

	2000	2001	2002	Average
Total of remittances (TR)	111,23	118,7	157,38	
Foreign Direct Investments (FDI)	55,84	76,58	88	73,47
GDP	1 883,00	2 204,00	2 359,00	2 148,67
TR/FDI	199,19%	155,00%	178,84%	177,68%
TR/GDP	5,91%	5,39%	6,67%	5,99%
FDI/GDP	2,97%	3,47%	3,73%	3,39%

Source : M.K.Keita / Etudes nationales sur les transferts de fonds des migrants : Cas du Mali

MAURITANIA

Table 28: Mauritania Nationals abroad by host countries (2004)

Host countries	Stock total
Saudi Arabia	20.000
Congo Brazzaville	2.500
Cote d'Ivoire	50.000
United Arab Emirates	4.000
France	20.000
Gambia	20.000
Guinea Bissau	3.000
Canaries Islands	2.000
Mali	40.000
Niger	5.000
Senegal	10.000
Other Africa	15.000
Other World	58.500
Total	250.000

Source : MAEC.

Table 29: Mauritania: Actively employed population by sex and nationality (1988)

	S		
	Male	Female	Total
Nationals	251.628	92.121	343.749
Foreigners			21.210
Total Residents			364.959

Source: RGPH 1988, volume I, tableaux 16 et 26.

Table 30 : Mauritania : Actively employed population by occupational sector, nationals and migrant workers $(1988)^*$

Occupational Branch	Nationals	Foreigners	Total
Agriculture	134.052	2.050	136.102
Breeding	81.734	933	82.667
Activities related to agriculture	860	43	903
Hunting	34	2	36
Silviculture	1.173	22	1.195
Fishing	7.385	1.482	8.867
Mine industry	6.322	190	6.512
Manufacturing and eating industries	5.530	1.226	6.756
Water, Gas and Electricity	1.326	107	1.433
Constructions	12.291	1.968	14.259
Trade	71.986	3.788	75.774
Transportation	9.378	1.345	10.723
Bank & insurance	1.465	50	1.515
Administration & social services	86.807	7.723	94.530
Non registered	21.974	993	22.967
Total	442.317	21.922	464.239

Source: RGPH 1988
* Data comprise employed active population and unemployed who have already worked.

62

Table 31 : Mauritania : Population by sex and nationality 1988

Ni ati an atina	Sex		T-4-1	
Nationality	Male	Female	Total	
Algeria	637	754	1.391	
Saudi Arabia	169	123	292	
Other African countries	460	170	630	
Other Arab States	17	11	28	
Benin	258	213	471	
Cameroon	160	176	336	
Democratic Republic of Congo	18	12	30	
Cote d'Ivoire	105	63	168	
Egypt	112	82	194	
United Arab Emirates	38	22	60	
Gabon	42	32	74	
Ghana	133	46	179	
Guinea Conakry	1.880	755	2.635	
Guinea-Bissau	760	263	1.023	
Iraq	44	30	74	
Kuwait	20	8	28	
Lebanon	65	37	102	
Libya	69	50	119	
Mali	4.075	2.422	6.497	
Morocco	163	131	294	
Niger	84	46	130	
Palestine	75	55	130	
Qatar	5	5	10	
Senegal	18.384	14.345	32.729	
Sudan	34	17	51	
Syria	77	43	120	
Chad	23	23	46	
Togo	77	23	100	
Tunisia	128	84	212	
Yemen	3	3	6	
Other nationalities	1.232	916	2.148	
Total Foreigners	29.347	20.960	50.307	
Total Mauritanians	893.858	920.071	1.813.929	
Total Residents	923.205	941.031	1.864.236	

Source: RGPH 1988.

Table 32 : Mauritania: Actively employed population by status, nationals and migrant workers (1988)*

Occupation	Nationals	Foreigners	Total
Self-employed	234.864	9.808	244.672
Employers	4.206	292	4.498
Fix salaried workers	57.162	4.099	61.261
Temporary salaried workers	51.235	5.075	56.310
Apprentices	2.259	548	2.807
Domestic workers	68.464	1.193	69.657
Others	1.671	100	1.771
Un-registred	21.556	807	22.363
Total	441.417	21.922	463.339

Source : RGPH 1988

SENEGAL

Table 33 : Senegal : Distribution of the emigrant population by residential environment, sex and age on departure

		Area of residence																				
Age of the		Dakar urban			Other cities			Urban area		Rural area		Total			Total							
emigrant	М	ale	Fen	nale	М	ale	Ferr	nale	Ма	le	Fem	ale	Ma	ale	Fem	ale	Ма	le	Fem	ale	101	aı
	Stock	%	Stock	%	Stock	%	Stock	%	Stock	%	Stock	%	Stock	%	Stock	%	Stock	%	Stock	%	Stock	%
Less than 15	707	1,7	721	6,2	165	0,6	261	5,3	872	1,3	982	5,9	3643	4,9	1112	10,9	4515	3,2	2094	7,8	6608	3,9
15-34 years old	29910	73,4	8541	73,4	18440	66,3	3186	65,1	48350	70,5	11728	71,0	46403	63,0	8092	79,4	94753	66,6	19820	74,2	114573	67,8
35-54 years old	8928	21,9	2010	17,3	8991	32,3	1324	27,1	17919	26,1	3334	20,2	22170	30,1	982	9,6	40089	28,2	4317	16,2	44406	26,3
55-74 years old	834	2,0	134	1,2	220	0,8	124	2,5	1054	1,5	259	1,6	1330	1,8			2384	1,7	259	1,0	2642	1,6
75 years old and																						
more	106	0,3							106	0,2							106	0,1			106	0,1
ND	269	0,7	227	2,0					269	0,4	227	1,4	122	0,2			391	0,3	227	0,8	618	0,4
Total	40754	100,0	11634	100,0	27816	100,0	4896	100,0	68570	100,0	16529	100,0	73668	100,0	10186	100,0	142238	100,0	26716	100,0	168953	100,0

Table 34 : Senegal : Distribution of the emigrant population by residential environment, ethnic group or nationality

Ethnic/ emigrant's nationality			Areas	of resider	nce				
	Dakar urban	Other cities	Rural areas	Urban	areas	Rural areas		Tota	al
	%	%	%	Stock	%	Stock	%	Stock	%
Wolof/Lébou	52,0	51,4	41,5	44058	51,8	34784	41,5	78841	46,7
Poular	20,6	24,3	34,0	18751	22,0	28531	34,0	47282	28,0
Sérère	4,8	5,0	6,8	4140	4,9	5667	6,8	9807	5,8
Diola	3,5	2,4	4,6	2647	3,1	3849	4,6	6496	3,8
Manding/Sossé	1,8	8,7	2,3	3785	4,4	1952	2,3	5737	3,4
Soninké	6,7	0,9	2,9	3804	4,5	2428	2,9	6232	3,7
Other Senegalese	7,3	6,3	4,9	5893	6,9	4087	4,9	9980	5,9
Africans	2,4	1,0	3,0	1550	1,8	2557	3,0	4107	2,4
Other foreigners	0,9			470	0,6			470	0,3
Total	100,0	100,0	100,0	85099	100,0	83854	100,0	168953	100,0

Table 35 : Senegal : Distribution of the emigrant population by residential environment and marital status on departure

Matrimonial status of the omigrant hofore	Areas of residence								
Matrimonial status of the emigrant before departure	Dakar urban	Other cities	Urban areas	Rural areas	Total				
ueparture	%	%	%	%	%				
Maried monogamous	34,6	44,6	38,5	43,7	41,1				
Marié(e) polygamous	6,3	6,9	6,5	14,6	10,6				
Single	57,3	44,6	52,4	40,5	46,5				
Widowed	0,4	0,4	0,4	0,3	0,4				
Divorced	1,3	3,6	2,2	0,8	1,5				
Total	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0				

Table 36 : Senegal : Distribution of the emigrant population by residential environment and region

<u> </u>	•	•		•						
	Areas of residence									
Region of residence of the emigrant	Dakar urban	Other cities	Urban areas	Rural areas	Total					
	%	%	%	%	%					
Dakar	100,0		61,6	0,4	31,2					
Ziguinchor		7,9	3,0	4,7	3,9					
Diourbel		10,1	3,9	15,9	9,9					
St Louis		13,5	5,2	31,8	18,4					
Tamba		5,7	2,2	9,1	5,6					
Kaolack		6,1	2,3	3,5	2,9					
Thiès		25,9	10,0	9,2	9,6					
Louga		18,4	7,1	8,1	7,6					
Fatick		5,9	2,3	4,4	3,3					
Kolda		6,5	2,5	12,8	7,6					
Total	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0					

Table 37 : Senegal : Distribution of the emigrant population by residential environment and destination

	Areas of residence									
Destination of emigration	Dakar urban	Dakar urban	Dakar urban	Milieu rural	Total					
	%	%	%	%	%					
Benin	0,6	0,5	0,5	0,4	0,5					
Burkina Faso		1,6	0,6	0,7	0,7					
Côte d'Ivoire	2,1	7,7	4,3	9,0	6,6					
Guinea-Bissau	1,5	4,4	2,6	3,8	3,2					
Mali	0,9	4,8	2,4	2,4	2,4					
Niger	0,2		0,1		0,1					
Togo		0,6	0,2	0,3	0,3					
Other African countries	13,7	24,0	17,7	42,7	30,1					
Europe	63,9	47,3	57,5	34,3	46,0					
USA or Canada	11,8	6,9	10,0	5,0	7,5					
Other	5,0	1,8	3,8	1,2	2,5					
Nsp		0,5	0,2	0,2	0,2					
ND	0,2		0,1		0,1					
Total	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0					

Table 38 : Senegal : Distribution of the emigrant population by residential environment and principal occupation on departure

Main occupation of the emigrant	Areas of residence									
Before departure	Dakar urban	Dakar urban	Milieu urban	Milieu rural	Total					
Belore departure	%	%	%	%	%					
Employed	42,4	40,5	41,7	50,2	45,9					
Unemployed	21,0	35,9	26,7	31,3	29,0					
Student	26,9	12,5	21,4	7,0	14,2					
House-wife/husband	5,6	6,2	5,9	7,4	6,6					
Other un-employed	4,1	4,8	4,4	4,1	4,2					
Total	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0					

International Migration Papers Cahiers de migrations internationales Estudios sobre Migraciones Internacionales

- 1. Adjustments to labour shortages and foreign workers in the Republic of Korea M.I. Abella; Y.B. Park; W.R. Böhning, 1995
- 2. Consumption and investments from migrants' remittances in the South Pacific Richard P.C. Brown, 1995
- Training abroad: German and Japanese schemes for workers from transition economies or developing countries Christiane Kuptsch; Nana Oishi, 1995
- Discrimination against migrant workers and ethnic minorities in access to employment in the Netherlands
 F. Bovenkerk; M.J.I. Gras; D. Ramsoedh, with the assistance of M. Dankoor and A. Havelaar, 1995
- Orderly international migration of workers and incentives to stay options for emigration countries
 M.I. Abella: K.J. Lönnroth. 1995
- 6. From outlawing discrimination to promoting equality: Canada's experience with antidiscrimination legislation C. Ventura, 1995
- 7 G. Arbeitsmarkt-Diskriminierung gegenüber ausländischen Arbeitnehmern in Deutschland
 A. Goldberg; D. Mourinho; U. Kulke, 1995
- 7 E. Labour market discrimination against foreign workers in Germany A. Goldberg; D. Mourinho; U. Kulke, 1996
- 8 E. The integration of migrant workers in the labour market: Policies and their impact W.R. Böhning; R. Zegers de Beijl, 1995
- 8 F. L'intégration des travailleurs migrants sur le marché du travail: Les politiques et leur impact
 W.R. Böhning; R. Zegers de Beijl, 1996
- 9 S. La discriminación laboral a los trabajadores inmigrantes en España Colectivo IOE: M.A. de Prada; W. Actis; C. Pereda, y R. Pérez Molina, 1995
- 9 E. Labour market discrimination against migrant workers in Spain Colectivo IOE: M.A. de Prada; W. Actis; C. Pereda, y R. Pérez Molina, 1996
- 10. The jobs and effects of migrant workers in Northern America Three essays J. Samuel; P.L. Martin; J.E. Taylor, 1995
- 11. The jobs and effects of migrant workers in Italy Three essays L. Frey; R. Livraghi; A. Venturini; A. Righi; L. Tronti, 1996

- 12. Discrimination against racial/ethnic minorities in access to employment in the United States: Empirical findings from situation testing M. Bendick, Jr., 1996
- 13. Employer des travailleurs étrangers: Manuel sur les politiques et les procédures plus particulièrement applicables aux pays à bas ou moyen revenus W.R. Böhning, 1996
- Protecting (im)migrants and ethnic minorities from discrimination in employment: Finnish and Swedish experiences
 K. Vuori, with the assistance of R. Zegers de Beijl, 1996
- 15F. Les migrations en provenance du Maghreb et la pression migratoire: Situation actuelle et prévisions
 D. Giubilaro, 1997
- 15E. Migration from the Maghreb and migration pressures: Current situation and future prospects D. Giubilaro, 1997
- 16. The documentation and evaluation of anti-discrimination training activities in the Netherlands J.P. Abell; A.E. Havelaar; M.M. Dankoor, 1997
- 17. Global nations. The impact of globalization on international migration P. Stalker, 1997
- 18. Anti-discrimination training activities in Finland K. Vuori, 1997
- 19. Emigration pressures and structural change. Case study of the Philippines A. Saith. 1997
- 20. Emigration pressures and structural change. Case study of Indonesia D. Nayyar, 1997
- 21. The evaluation of anti-discrimination training activities in the United Kingdom P. Taylor; D. Powell; J. Wrench, 1997
- 22. Pratiques de formations antidiscriminatoires en Belgique F. Castelain-Kinet; S. Bouquin; H. Delagrange; T. Denutte, 1998
- 23E. Discrimination in access to employment on grounds of foreign origin: the case of Belgium P. Arrijn; S. Feld; A. Nayer, 1998
- 23F. La discrimination à l'accès à l'emploi en raison de l'origine étrangère : le cas de la Belgique P. Arrijn; S. Feld; A. Nayer, 1998
- 24. Labour immigration and integration in low- and middle-income countries: Towards an evaluation of the effectiveness of migration policies

 J. Doomernik, 1998
- 25. Protecting migrants and ethnic minorities from discrimination in employment: the Danish experience
 N.-E. Hansen, I. McClure, 1998

- 26. Illegal migration and employment in Russia Eugene Krassinets, 1998
- 27. The effectiveness of integration policies towards immigrants and their descendants in France, Germany and The Netherlands
 Jeroen Doomernik, 1998
- 28. Approche juridique de la discrimination à l'accès à l'emploi en Belgique en raison de l'origine étrangère
 - B. Smeesters, sous la direction de A. Nayer, 1999
- 29. The documentation and evaluation of anti-discrimination training in the United States M. Bendick, Jr., M.L. Egan, S. Lofhjelm, 1999
- 30. Illegal labour migration and employment in Hungary
 J. Juhász with contributions from M. Cosmeanu; I. Ramond; J. Gmitra, A. Bácskai, 1999
- 31. Foreign labour in Lithuania: Immigration, employment and illegal work A. Sipaviciene, in cooperation with V. Kanopiene, 1999
- 32. Legal and illegal labour migration in the Czech Republic: Background and current trends Milada Horákova, 2000
- 33. Migrant labour An annotated bibliography R. Chen: M. Madamba, 2000
- 34. Settlement and integration policies towards immigrants and their descendants in Sweden Charles Westin, 2000
- 35. United States policies on admission of professional and technical workers: Objectives and outcomes Philip Martin, Richard Chen and Mark Madamba, 2000
- 36. Employer sanctions: French, German and US experiences Philip Martin and Mark Miller, 2000
- 37. Quotas d'immigration : l'expérience suisse Etienne Piguet et Hans Mahnig, 2000
- 38. The effectiveness of employment equality policies in relation to immigrants and ethnic minorities in the UK
 John Wrench and Tariq Modood, 2001
- 39. The Ambiguities of Emigration: Bulgaria since 1988 August Gächter, 2002
- 40. Migration for the Benefit of All: Towards a New Paradigm for Migrant Labour Eric Weinstein, 2001
- 41. Migrants in Irregular Employment in the Mediterranean Countries of the European Union Emilio Reynieri, 2001
- 42. From temporary guests to permanent settlers? A review of the German experience Heinz Werner, 2001

- 43. From brain exchange to brain gain: Policy implications for the UK of recent trends in skilled migration from developing countries Allan Findlay, 2002
- 44. Migration of highly skilled persons from developing countries: Impact and policy responses B. Lindsay Lowell and Allan Findlay, 2002
- 44F. L'émigration de personnes hautement qualifiées de pays en développement : impact et réponses politiques Rapport de synthèse B. Lindsay Lowell et Allan Findlay, 2003
- 45. Policy responses to the international mobility of skilled labour B. Lindsay Lowell, 2002
- 46. Some developmental effects on the international migration of highly skilled persons B. Lindsay Lowell, 2002
- 47. Women migrant domestic workers in Bahrain Sabika al-Najjar, 2002
- 48. Women migrant domestic workers in Lebanon Ray Jureidini, 2002
- 49. Skilled labour migration from developing countries: Study on India Binod Khadria, 2002
- 50. Skilled labour migration from developing countries: Study on the Caribbean Region Elizabeth Thomas-Hope, 2002
- 51. Skilled labour migration from developing countries: Study on the Philippines Florian A. Alburo and Danilo I. Abella, 2002
- 52. Skilled labour migration from developing countries: Study on South and Southern Africa Haroon Bhorat, Jean-Baptiste Meyer and Cecil Mlatsheni, 2002
- 53. Situación de los trabajadores migrantes en América Central Abelardo Morales Gamboa, 2002
- 54S. La inmigración irregular subsahariana a través y hacia Marruecos Lucile Barros, Mehdi Lahlou, Claire Escoffier, Pablo Pumares, Paolo Ruspini, 2002
- 54 F. L'immigration irrégulière subsaharienne à travers et vers le Maroc Lucile Barros, Mehdi Lahlou, Claire Escoffier, Pablo Pumares, Paolo Ruspini, 2002
- 55. Skilled Labour Migration from Developing Countries: Annotated Bibliography Allan M. Findlay and Emma Stewart, 2002
- 56. Skilled labour migration from developing countries: Annotated Bibliography on Economic Analysis, Impact and Policy Issues B. Lindsay Lowell, 2002
- 57. Asian Labour Migration: Issues and Challenges in an Era of Globalization Piyasiri Wickramasekara, 2002

- 58. Skilled labour migration from developing countries: Study on Argentina and Uruguay Adela Pellegrino, 2002
- 58S Migración de mano de obra calificada desde Argentina y Uruguay Adela Pellegrino, 2003
- Remesas de mexicanos en el exterior y su vinculación con el desarrollo económico, social y cultural de sus comunidades de origen Mario López Espinosa, 2002
- 60. Migraciones laborales en América del Sur: la Comunidad Andina Ponciano Torales, M. Estela González y Nora Pérez Vichich, 2003
- 61. Economic Integration in the Caribbean: The development towards a common labour market Deike Fuchs and Thomas Straubhaar, 2003
- 62F Enjeux et défis de la migration de travail ouest-africaine A.S. Fall, 2003
- 63. Migraciones laborales en Sudamérica: el Mercosur ampliado Ezequiel Texidó, Gladys Baer, Nora Pérez Vichich, Ana María Santestevan, Charles P. Gomes, 2003
- 64. Empowering Filipino Migrant Workers: Policy Issues and Challenges Rene E. Ofreneo and Isabelo A. Samonte, 2004
- 65. Acuerdos bilaterales sobre migración de mano de obra: Modo de empleo Eduardo Geronimi, 2004
- 66. Acuerdos bilaterales sobre migración de mano de obra: Estudio de casos Eduardo Geronimi, Lorenzo Cachón y Ezequiel Texidó, 2004
- 67. Labour market discrimination against migrant workers in Italy E. Allasino, E. Reyneri, A. Venturini, G. Zincone, 2004
- 67 I. La discriminazione dei lavoratori immigrati nel mercato del lavoro in Italia E. Allasino, E. Reyneri, A. Venturini, G. Zincone, 2004
- Challenging discrimination in employment: A summary of research and a typology of measures
 P. Taran, R. Zegers de Beijl and I. McClure, 2004
- 69. Labour Market Effects of Immigration: an Empirical Analysis based on Italian Data A. Venturini and C. Villosio, 2004
- 70. Admisión, contratación y protección de trabajadores migrantes: Panorama de la legislación y la práctica nacionales de Argentina, Bolivia, Brasil, Chile, Colombia, Ecuador, España, Perú, Portugal y Uruguay
 E. Geronimi, 2004
- 72F. Gestion des migrations et politiques de développement : optimiser les bénéfices de la migration internationale en Afrique de l'Ouest Savina Ammassari 2004

- 72E. Migration management and development policies: maximising the benefits of international migration in West Africa Savina Ammassari, 2006
- 73. Migration prospects after the 2004 enlargement of the European Union Gloria Moreno-Fontes Chammartin and Fernando Cantú-Bazaldúa, 2005
- 74. Identification of potential for increasing employment and productive investment in Albania, Moldova and Ukraine based on remittances
 Gloria Moreno-Fontes Chammartin and Fernando Cantú-Bazaldúa, 2005
- 75. Rights of migrant workers in Asia: Any light at the end of the tunnel? Piyasiri Wickramasekara, 2006
- 76F. Les systèmes d'informations statistiques sur les travailleurs migrants au Maghreb Central. Musette Mohamed Saïb, et Belghazi Saad, Boubakri Hassan, Hammouda Nacer Eddine, 2006
- 76E. Systems of statistical information on migrant workers in Central Maghreb.

 Musette Mohamed Saïb, *and* Belghazi Saad, Boubakri Hassan, Hammouda Nacer Eddine, 2006
- 77F. Rapport sur les législations relatives à la migration internationale au Maghreb Central. Musette Mohamed Saïb, et Monia Benjemia, Khadija Elmadmad, Azzouz Kerdoun, 2006
- 77E. Report on legislation concerning international migration in Central Maghreb.

 Mohamed Saïb Musette, and Monia Benjemia, Khadija Elmadmad, Azzouz Kerdoun, 2006
- 78F. Rapport sur les migrations et le développement au Maghreb Central. Musette Mohamed Saïb, et Youssef Alouane, Mohamed Khachani, Hocine Labdelaoui, 2006
- 78E. Summary report on migration and development in Central Maghreb.

 Mohamed Saïb Musette, and Youssef Alouane, Mohamed Khachani, Hocine Labdelaoui,
 2006
- 79F. Les statistiques des travailleurs migrants en Afrique de l'Ouest. Hamidou Ba, et Babacar Ndione, 2006
- 79E. Labour migration statistics in West Africa. Hamidou Ba, and Babacar Ndione, 2006
- 80F. Législations relatives aux travailleurs migrants en Afrique de l'Ouest. Hamidou Ba, et Abdoulaye Fall, 2006
- 80E. Legislation relevant to migrant workers in West Africa. Hamidou Ba, and Abdoulaye Fall, 2006
- 81. A study of labour migration data and statistics in east Africa. Joseph M. Shitundu, 2006
- 82. Migration legislation in East Africa. Flora Mndeme Musonda, 2006
- 83. The Migration-Development Nexus in East Africa. Humphrey P.B. Moshi, 2006

- 84E. The challenge of labour migration flows between West Africa and the Maghreb. Aderanti Adepoju, 2006.
- 84F. Les défis liés aux flux migratoire pour le travail entre l'Afrique de l'Ouest et de la Maghreb. Aderanti Adepoju, 2006.

Perspectives on Labour Migration Perspectives sur les migrations du travail Perspectivas sobre migraciones laborales

- 1. Getting at the Roots: Stopping Exploitation of Migrant Workers by Organized Crime Patrick Taran and Gloria Moreno-Fontes Chammartin, 2003
- 2. Aspectos jurídicos del tráfico y la trata de trabajadores migrantes Eduardo Geronimi, 2002
- 2 F. Aspects juridiques du trafic et de la traite de travailleurs migrants Eduardo Geronimi, 2003
- 3. Globalization, Labour and Migration: Protection is Paramount Patrick Taran and Eduardo Geronimi, 2003
- 3 S. Globalización y migraciones laborales: importancia de la protección Patrick Taran y Eduardo Geronimi, 2003
- 3 F Globalisation et migrations de main-d'oeuvre : Importance de la protection Patrick Taran et Eduardo Geronimi, 2003
- 5 F Options politiques de réponse à la migration des compétences : rétention, retour et circulation Piyasiri Wickramasekara, 2003
- 5 E Policy responses to skilled migration: Retention, return and circulation Piyasiri Wickramasekara, 2003
- 6. Temporary foreign worker programmes: policies, adverse consequences and the need to make them work
 Martin Ruhs, 2003
- 7. Protección y asistencia a las víctimas de trata Eduardo Geronimi, 2003